
 

1 

 

 
 

Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 
210 West Spencer Avenue, Suite B • Gunnison, Colorado 81230 Telephone (970) 641-6065 • 

www.ugrwcd.org 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

AGENDA - REGULAR MEETING   

Monday, February 28, 2022 

5:30 pm 

 

MISSION STATEMENT 

To be an active leader in all issues affecting the water resources of the Upper Gunnison River 

Basin. 

 

5:30  p.m. 1. Call to Order 

 

5:32    p.m. 2.       Agenda Approval 

 

5:33 p.m.  3. Changes to Financial Reports 

 

5:40 p.m. 4. Consent Agenda Items:  Any of the following items may be   

  removed for discussion from the consent agenda at the request of  

  any Board member or citizen. 

• Approval of January 24, 2022 Minutes 

• Monthly Budget Review 

• Consideration of Operating Expenses 

• Consideration of Non-Operating Expenses  

5:43 p.m. 5. Legal and Legislative Matters 

6:00 p.m. 6. Gothic Raw Water Project Presentation by Janna Hansen, Director 

   of Parks and Recreation, Town of Crested Butte 

 

6:20 p.m. 7.  Basin Water Supply Report 

 

6:25 p.m. 8. Dinner Break 

6:40 p.m. 9. Treasurer’s Report 

 

6:42  p.m.  10a.  Discussion: Coordinated Emergency Response  

   Planning                                                                            

 (continued) 

http://www.ugrwcd.org/


2 

 

 

  10b. Discussion:  Demand Management Market Concept 

 

7:15  p.m. 11. General Manager and Staff Reports  

• Homestake Pitch Uranium Mine 

• Gunnison Headwaters Mitigation Bank 

• Community Banks Lake City CD Follow-Up 

• District Phone System Upgrade 

 

• Staff Reports 

o Wet Meadows Program (Cheryl Cwelich) 

o Grant Program (Beverly Richards) 

o Education and Outreach (Sue Uerling) 

• Miscellaneous Reports 

o Gunnison River Festival Update 

o Scientific Endeavors Update 

o Colorado Water Congress Review 

o Standard Monthly Reports – Solar Panels, Gunnison River 

Spreadsheet, News Articles 

 

7:30  p.m. 12. Director Updates 

 

7:55 p.m. 13. Citizen Comments  

 

8:00  p.m. 14. Future Meetings 

 

8:05 p.m. 15. Summary of Meeting Action Items 

  

8:10 p.m. 16. Adjournment 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note: This agenda is subject to change, including the addition of items or the deletion of items at 
any time. All times are approximate. Regular meetings, public hearings, and special meetings are 
recorded, and action can be taken on any item. The board may address individual agenda items at any 
time or in any order to accommodate the needs of the board and the audience. Persons with special 
needs due to a disability are requested to call the District at (970)641-6065 at least 24 hours prior to 
the meeting. 

              







AGENDA ITEM 44
Consent Agenda Items



 

1 
 

 
 

 

Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 

Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday, January 24, 2022 

 

The Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District (UGRWCD) 

conducted a regular meeting on Monday, January 24, 2022, at 5:30 p.m. in the District office, 

210 West Spencer Avenue, Suite B, Gunnison, CO, 81230 and via Zoom video/teleconferencing. 

 

Board members present: Sara Bergstrom, Rosemary Carroll (via Zoom), Joellen Fonken (via 

Zoom), Rebie Hazard (via Zoom), Stacy McPhail, Julie Nania (via Zoom), Bill Nesbitt, John 

Perusek, Michelle Pierce, Don Sabrowski and Andy Spann (via Zoom).   

 

Others present: 

Cheryl Cwelich, UGRWCD Watershed Programs Coordinator 

Sonja Chavez, UGRWCD General Manager 

John McClow, UGRWCD General Counsel 

Beverly Richards, UGRWCD Water Resource Specialist 

Jill Steele, UGRWCD Accountant 

Sue Uerling, UGRWCD Administrative Assistant/Communications Support Specialist 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND INTRODUCTION OF CHERYL CWELICH 

 

Board President Michelle Pierce called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. Watershed Programs 

Coordinator Cheryl Cwelich was introduced to the Board.  Cheryl expressed her enthusiasm for 

joining the UGRWCD team.  

 

2.      AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

Director Stacy McPhail moved and Director John Perusek seconded approval of the 

amended agenda as circulated. The motion carried. 

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS   

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director Stacy McPhail seconded approval of the consent 

agenda. The motion carried. 

 

4. LEGAL MATTERS 

 

General Counsel John McClow reported that all parties to the Memorandum of Agreement have 

now signed the agreement for the development of the hydroelectric generation facility proposed 



 

2 
 

by Gunnison County Electric Association (GCEA) and Uncompahgre Valley Water Users 

Association at the Taylor Park Dam. 

 

John also reported that the first Legislative Committee meeting of the year was held on Friday, 

January 21 to discuss potential water bills that could be brought forward during this legislative 

session.  John will continue to monitor these bills and will call more meetings as necessary 

during the session. Legislative Committee meetings are typically held on Friday mornings at 8 

AM via teleconferencing.    

 

5. GENERAL MANAGER’s AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

A. Treasurer’s Report  

Treasurer Bill Nesbitt said the Dow was down 1100 points initially today and then came back 

to finish 99 points up at the end of the day. The volatile trading was due to institutional 

buying and selling.  Bill reported that it is likely that the Fed will raise interest rates at least 

three times next year.  Bill reported that the District will have a US Treasury Note that will 

come due on February 15, 2022 and that finding any replacements with a better interest rate 

will be challenging at best.  He noted that there is also more cash than he likes to carry in the 

checking account. A CD at Community Banks of Colorado in Lake City will mature 

February 20, 2022.  He would like the District to continue to keep those monies in Lake City 

if possible.  He asked if Director Pierce could pick up a rate sheet from the Like City bank to 

bring to the next Board meeting. 

 

B.  Executive Committee Update 

President Michelle Pierce reported that the committee met on January 20th to discuss a 

possible UGRWCD Employee Home Ownership Program, a revised Board meeting schedule 

and a request for adjusting the General Manager’s Paid Time Off (PTO) maximum 

accumulation allowance.   

 

Michelle said several questions came up during the Employee Home Ownership Program 

discussion, so this matter was tabled for further details. 

 

As for changing the current 2022 Board Meeting schedule, Michelle reported the Executive 

Committee was not in favor of making a change to the schedule but did agree that some 

committee reports could be given every other month instead of monthly to reduce staff 

preparation time for Board meetings.  General manager Sonja Chavez did say she would like 

to see the December meeting noted as a “Special Budget Meeting” that would occur remotely 

due to its shortened length and focus on the budget only. There was also a question regarding 

whether the board could approve the budget remotely.  General Counsel John McClow 

confirmed that there was no issue with the Board approving the budget remotely since there 

is a policy that allows for voting remotely. 

 



 

3 
 

Michelle reported the Executive Committee was recommending a change to the General 

Manager’s PTO maximum accrual to 432 hours.  The General Manager is finding it difficult 

to take PTO at a frequency that allows her to stay below the current 240 hours of maximum 

PTO accumulation identified in her contract and maintain her responsibilities.  She is losing 

PTO. The recommendation for 432 hours is consistent with the personnel handbook. 

 

Director Stacy McPhail made the motion to adopt the recommendation of the Executive 

Committee to increase the General Manager’s PTO maximum accrual to 432 hours.  

The motion carried.   

 

      C. Taylor Local User’s Group (TLUG) 

TLUG Chair Don Sabrowski reported that the District received three letters of application for     

the “rafting/boating interest” opening and one letter of application for “flat-water recreation 

interests.”  These letters (and any letters of recommendation) were circulated to all Board 

members in the Board packet as follows:  Mark Schumacher (requesting renewal of his term 

for the “rafting/boating representative” along with a letter of recommendation from Ches 

Russell of Scenic River Tours); Kestrel Kunz (a new “rafting/boating interests” applicant 

along with a letter of recommendation from John Mason, Western Colorado University 

Physics Professor); Rob Childerston (a new “rafting/boating interests” applicant); and, Ryan 

Birdsey (requesting renewal of his term for the “flat-water recreation interests”).   

 

Director Sabrowski noted that Mark Schumacher has held the “rafting/boating interests” 

representative position for several years now and Don feels that Mark does a good job of 

weighing the flow requests and timing wishes of all of the TLUG representatives.  Don noted 

that Mark even received a letter of recommendation from Ches Russell of Scenic River 

Tours, one of Mark’s competitors.  Don “highly recommended” that the Board renew the 

appointments of Mark Schumacher and Ryan Birdsey for two-year terms each on TLUG. 

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director Joellen Fonken seconded the appointments of 

Mark Schumacher and Ryan Birdsey for renewal of their seats on TLUG for another 

two-year term. The motion carried. 

 

D.  Watershed Management Planning Committee 

General Manager Sonja Chavez referred the Board to the memo included in the Board 

packet.  Director Bill Nesbitt asked about the Upper Gunnison River Restoration & Irrigation 

Infrastructure Improvement Project (2021) and wanted a refresher about who was responsible 

for payment for the project and what it entailed.  General Manager Chavez said the multi-

beneficial water resource improvement project was designed to eliminate a gravel channel 

push-up dam in the river and included an improved headgate and other shared infrastructure. 

The project was funded through various grants including an Upper Gunnison District Grant 

to Steve Guerrieri, Colorado Water Conservation Board, Colorado River District, and US 

Fish and Wildlife Service.  Significant cash and in-kind services were also provided by water 

right holders. The Upper Gunnison and Trout Unlimited also provided in-kind services in 



 

4 
 

managing the project.  The project is complete.  On-going maintenance for the infrastructure 

is the responsibility of the water right holders.   

 

E.  Grant Committee 

Water Resource Specialist Beverly Richards referred to her memo included in the Board 

packet.  Bev said the numbers were pretty slim for potential applicants who attended one of 

the two virtual grant trainings on January 13 and 18.  There was one applicant for the first 

training and three for the second.  Bev has emailed the training to another applicant and it is 

now posted on the UGRWCD website.  The deadline for grant applications is February 15. 

 

F.  Education and Outreach Committee 

Administrative Assistant/Communications Support Specialist Sue Uerling referred to the 

memo included in the Board packet.  Sue reported that on Friday, January 21, staff met with 

representatives from the Gunnison Rotary Club and offered sponsorship funds from the 

“Collaboration with Water Groups” line item on the 2022 Education Action Plan to sponsor 

the Awards Ceremony for the Rotary Club Fishing Tournament May 7 and 8, 2022 at Blue 

Mesa Reservoir.  With the sponsorship, the District will get to distribute water information 

rack cards, water bottles, dry bags for cell phones and other promotional items to the 

estimated 250 participants from all over the state. General Manager Chavez and/or a Board 

member will be able to give a brief overview of what the District does for the participants at 

the Awards Ceremony on Sunday, May 8 near the marina.  In addition, the District’s 

sponsorship includes a free entry for one two-person team from the District to participate in 

the fishing tournament.  Sue asked Board members to let her know if they were interested in 

being on the team and encouraged them to come to the Awards Ceremony.  Sue will send 

more details to the Board as they become available. Sue noted that the tournament has been 

held for 32 years and was originally organized by the Kiwanis. When the Kiwanis Club 

became defunct about 6 years ago, the Rotary Club took over the management of the 

tournament.  Proceeds from the tournament support four college scholarships for area youth 

and Rotary grants for area non-profits. 

 

Director Bill Nesbitt asked how this collaboration came about and Sonja said that Sue 

reached out to Colorado Parks and Wildlife and the Rotary Club about how the District might 

be able to collaborate with them on fishing tournaments. 

 

Bill also reported that the last of the District’s supply of the book Water were distributed to 

first graders in Crested Butte and Lake City in November 2021.  Copies of the new book 

Drop: An Adventure through the Water Cycle arrived a couple of days ago and Bill said they 

would be distributed to Gunnison first graders in the next several weeks.  

 

G.  Basin Water Supply 

Water Resource Specialist Beverly Richards referred to her report in the Board packet.  She 

noted that while soil moisture has improved, there needs to be a lot more snow to get the 



 

5 
 

basin back to normal.  Forecasters predict that we will move from a LaNina pattern now to a 

neutral pattern until next winter where they predict we will move into an El Nino weather 

pattern.  This usually means a better chance of higher snowpack.  With the current snowpack 

percentage, they are predicting streamflows at 130% of normal, but that snowpack SWE 

percentage will likely disappear without more precipitation.  Bev reminded everyone that 

there is a long way to go before we see maximum snowpack accumulation amounts – 

typically in April. 

 

H.  Wet Meadows Program 

Watershed Program Coordinator Cheryl Cwelich referred to her report in the Board packet 

and said that her first three weeks have been “very invigorating” as she has had meetings 

with all of the program partners. Cheryl reported that the transition between Paul Jones and 

her has gone smoothly and that Paul has been gracious and helpful.  Cheryl said the kick-off 

meeting last week went well as they poured over restoration structure construction sites.  

Some tasks she will be working on is revising the original 2014 Vision Statement; 

standardizing monitoring processes; working with staff to develop contracts with volunteer 

crews and contractors; writing new copy and streamlining existing website information and 

moving all of the Wet Meadows website onto the UGRWCD.org website; planning for the 

Sage Grouse Summit at Western Colorado University and finalizing activities outside of the 

basin per our grant agreements so that we can turn our attention back to the Upper Gunnison 

as directed by the Board.  Cheryl noted that the District won’t be entering into any new grant 

agreements for work outside of the basin.   

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez noted that Board members may continue to see some checks 

payable to Paul Jones as he is contracted in 2022 to help with transition to Cheryl’s 

leadership. 

    

I.  Scientific Endeavors 

Director Rosemary Carroll noted that she did not have much to report as everyone was just 

coming back from holiday break.  In early January, the groups collaborating on sharing 

hydrologic models, including the USGS, DOE and others, held their first workshop. 

Rosemary noted that the DOE SAIL campaign only had good radar data from during the 

Christmas/New Year’s storm sequence.  There are 2 ASO flights currently funded for the 

East and Taylor River basins. Two more are awaiting additional funding. General Manager 

Chavez said she hopes there will be funding available for more ASO flights going forward 

and that the CWCB has a grant application in front of them from a Colorado ASO coalition 

group.  Rosemary said for now the flights will focus on the upper East and Taylor Rivers. No 

flights are scheduled yet to fly on the Ohio Creek basin. 

 

J.  Long Lake Stakeholder Workgroup 

This group has not met recently.  Director Rosemary Carroll recommended removing this 

item from the agenda until later when meetings are scheduled again. 



 

6 
 

 

 

K.  Gunnison Basin Roundtable (GBRT) Update 

General Counsel John McClow reported that the GBRT meeting on January 17, 2022 was 

relatively short.  Steve Anderson of the Uncompahgre Valley Water Users Association 

received an Irrigation Leader award from Four States Irrigation.   The Upper Gunnison 

District will be managing the CWCB funding and contract for the PEPO Chair.  General 

Counsel McClow also answered questions about Nebraska’s proposal to build an irrigation 

pipeline from Colorado. 

 

L.  Gunnison River Festival (GRF) Update 

Director Joellen Fonken reported that the GRF Board held their annual meeting on January 

20, 2022 and elected officers as follows:  Sonja Chavez, President; Marlene Crosby, Vice 

President; Lizzy McArthur, Secretary; and, Jill Steele, Treasurer; Katie Lewinger, Sponsor 

Director. Joellen is excited to have Lizzy McArthur on the GRF Board as she also served on 

the FibArk Board for five or six years and will bring a lot of knowledge and experience to the 

GRF.  Joellen reported that Cheryl Cwelich will serve in the role of staff representative for 

the GRF.  She reminded everyone that the dates for the 2022 GRF are June 10-12, 2022 and 

that this will be the 20th Anniversary celebration.  Joellen said the Lake Fork Valley 

Conservancy are excited to be involved again this year and will roll out activities on the Lake 

San Cristobal peninsula property that they purchased last year.  The events schedule will be 

set at the February meeting and will again focus on education.     

 

6. BREAK 

 

7. MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS: 

 

A.  Infrastructure Bill 

      General Manager Chavez reported that Colorado’s portion of the Infrastructure Bill funding 

passed by the federal government has designated $6.15 billion for water projects and will be 

distributed over a five-year period.  Projects that are designed to improve water treatment or 

water quality (e.g., PFAS or lead pipe replacement) have a separate funding designation of 

$688 million and must have their project on the State Revolving Fund “Project List”. Sonja 

said she will reach out to the municipalities in the basin to be sure that they are aware of the 

requirements for project submission. Reclamation will be handling the distribution of most of 

the $6.15 billion and details are to be determined. None of this funding will be going through 

the CWCB.  

 

B.  Gunnison Headwater Mitigation Bank 

      General Manager Sonja Chavez reported that she and Travis Moore were not able to connect 

prior to the Board meeting, so this report will be tabled until the next meeting. 

 

C.  Spencer Business Park Condo Association Meeting 



 

7 
 

      General Manager Sonja Chavez referred to the January 6th meeting minutes included in the 

Board packet and said the primary outcome was that the consensus was not to delay the roof 

repair.  Director Nesbitt also indicated that the District should not delay in seeking repayment 

from B.A.M.P. LLC immediately.   

 

D.  Saguache County Public Hearing on Homestake Mine Mitigation Proposal 

      General Manager Chavez reported she and Directors Hazard, Nania, and McPhail were in 

attendance at the public hearing where the draft ordinance was reviewed by the Saguache 

Board of County Commissioners.  Sonja was surprised that before discussing the ordinance 

that the public was not given much background information around Homestake’s proposal to 

remove drinking water standards from Marshall Creek along with the proposal to drill 

potentially affected wells deeper into bedrock.  Director Nania said that the potential for 

contamination is certainly a concern for the District but that she’s also very concerned that 

this action could set a precedence for mining companies in general to get out of their 

responsibilities to meet EPA mitigation standards for water quality, especially as Homestake 

is already operating under a “Temporary Modification.” Homestake also said the water 

quality is better now than it was in the 70’s.  The District has not had the opportunity to 

review the water-quality data Homestake is referring to but plans to do so.    

 

There was a lot of discussion about how far the District should go in expressing our concerns 

to Saguache County Commissioners.  While the decision around an ordinance lies with 

Saguache County, Director Andy Spann expressed that he does not think the District should 

be concerned about any political fallout from expressing our concerns about contamination 

within the District’s boundaries and we should move forward with any action we feel best 

protects the water and the basin. Board members agreed.  Director Hazard said that if the 

District elects to send a letter outlining concerns it should be addressed to all three of the 

commissioners.  

 

      For next steps, Sonja reported that she will draft a letter and can ask for “Active Party Status” 

on the matter with the Water Quality Control Commission so that the District can provide 

formal comment or testimony.  It was also agreed that the Board should continue to monitor 

the issue closely and research any other potential sources for data on water quality in this 

area.     

 

E.  Office Renovation Update for Watershed Program Coordinator  

      General Manager Chavez reported that Bobby Overturf was contracted to remove the 

cabinetry from the former copy room and install it in the lobby area.  This has been 

completed and the cabinetry works well for Sue Uerling to prepare Board packets.  Bobby 

also repaired the drywall, painted all of the former copy room and installed a sliding barn 

door since there was no door previously on the copy room.  Sonja said the final costs would 

probably exceed her original estimate and come in around approximately $1500 with the 

need to also replace the carpet.  



 

8 
 

 

F.  Gunnison River Spreadsheet 

Director Rebie Hazard asked if the spreadsheet could be enlarged for easier reading.  

 

Director Don Sabrowski asked if there was any progress on the new Doppler gap radar site 

near Blue Mesa.  General Manager Chavez said that due to the Gunnison sage grouse mating 

season between March 15 and July 15th in the area, it was recommended that the installation 

of the radar be moved back until after July 15th.  Sonja said this means that we may lose out 

on some of the federal funding that we were expecting to help cover the cost of the data but 

she looks forward to receiving data next year.  

 

G.  Newspaper Articles 

Director Bill Nesbitt noted that he recently read an article from the Gilbert, AZ newspaper 

where they tout their sustained water yield from the Colorado River.  Bill said this article 

raised concerns for him, specifically “how at risk are we?” and whether the Board should 

take steps now to be prepared.  For instance, should the District set aside funds to buy blocks 

of water for shortages or set aside funds for litigation if necessary.   

 

General Counsel John McClow noted that the Colorado Attorney General is responsible for 

litigating issues related to the Colorado River Compact, not the District, so setting aside 

funds for that potential litigation is not necessary.  John said the Attorney General has a team 

preparing for compact compliance issues.  Measuring water and how to administer any 

possible curtailment is the responsibility of the State Engineer. Currently, the State Engineer 

is developing Measurement Rules for the Yampa River, and when that is complete he will 

proceed to other basins. Once Measurement Rules are completed the State Engineer will 

begin the process for developing Compact Curtailment Rules. That process will be 

contentious, will likely take years, and will involve significant attorney time. So long as the 

District employs full-time legal counsel no special funding needs to be set aside for legal 

fees.  John said that discussions about compact compliance will continue to happen 

frequently and that right now, there is not a way to know exactly what shortages we may 

possibly face  basin to basin or state to state.    

 

8. CITIZEN COIMMENTS -   No citizens were present for comments. 

 

9. FUTURE MEETINGS - A listing of meetings was provided in the Board Packet. 

 

10. SUMMARY OF MEETING ACTION ITEMS 

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez will follow up on checking into CD rates in Lake City and 

discussing with the District’s bond dealer on possible investments to replace the US 

Treasury note that comes due on February 15, 2022. 

 

Sonja will send an email out to local municipalities within the basin to make sure they 

understand the process to make their projects eligible for Infrastructure Bill funding. 



 

9 
 

 

Sonja will follow-up on writing a memo to outline the District’s concerns for the 

Homestake Mine ordinance to share with the Saguache Board of County Commissioners 

and to request “Active Party Status” with the Water Quality Control Commission on the 

issue.  She will also reach out water quality entities to see what data might be available 

related to uranium measurements. 

 

District Staff will work on enlarging the Gunnison River Spreadsheet for the packet. 

  

11. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Board President Michelle Pierce adjourned the regular District Board meeting for January 2022 

at 7:20 p.m. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

 

___________________________ 

John Perusek, Secretary 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Michelle Pierce, President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 
 

 

UPPER GUNNISON RIVER WATER ACTIVITY ENTERPRISE  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

REGULAR SEMI-ANNUAL MEETING MINUTES 

January 24, 2022 

 

The Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water Activity Enterprise conducted a 

semi-annual meeting on Monday, January 24, 2022 at 7:20 p.m. in the District offices, 210 West 

Spencer Avenue, Suite B, Gunnison, CO, 81230. 

 

Board members present: Sara Bergstrom, Rosemary Carroll (via Zoom), Joellen Fonken (via 

Zoom), Rebie Hazard (via Zoom), Stacy McPhail, Julie Nania (via Zoom), Bill Nesbitt, John 

Perusek, Michelle Pierce, Don Sabrowski and Andy Spann (via Zoom).   

 

Others present: 

Cheryl Cwelich, UGRWCD Watershed Programs Coordinator 

Sonja Chavez, UGRWCD General Manager 

John McClow, UGRWCD General Counsel 

Beverly Richards, UGRWCD Water Resource Specialist 

Jill Steele, UGRWCD Accountant 

Sue Uerling, UGRWCD Administrative Assistant/Communications Support Specialist 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

President Michelle Pierce called the meeting to order at 7:20 p.m.   
 

2.      AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director Stacy McPhail seconded approval of the agenda.  

The motion carried.   

 

3.      CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS:   

 

President Michelle Pierce asked if there were any items to be removed for discussion from the 

consent agenda.  None were requested. 

 

Director Sara Bergman moved and Director Bill Nesbitt seconded approval of the consent 

agenda items, which included Resolution 2022-1 to Set Posting Place.  The motion carried. 

 

4. MERIDIAN LAKE RESERVOIR UPDATE:   

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez reported that she met with the dam inspector in the fall and he 

had no major concerns.  She said there is a small seep at the outlet works that has not grown over 

the years and that she will continue monitor it.  There are some bank erosion issues that could be 



 

11 
 

addressed but that aren’t in any way urgent or critical.  She recommended that bank stabilization 

be presented to the Long Lane Working Group.   

 

Water Resource Specialist Beverly Richards reported that 640 base units have been sold leaving 

326 available. The initial cost is $3,500 per base unit and the annual administrative fee is $55.00 

per base unit. 

 

5.      2022 BUDGET ADOPTION:  

 

President Michelle Pierce referred to the draft budget included in the Board packet and asked if 

there were any questions or concerns.  None were raised. 

 

Director Stacy McPhail moved and Director Sara Bergman seconded adoption of the 2022 

WAE budget.   

 

6.      CITIZEN COMMENTS:  

 

There were no citizens present for comments. 

 

7.      MISCELLANEOUS MATTER:  

 

None were brought forward. 

 

8.      SUMMARY OF ACTION ITEMS:  

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez will follow-up on CD rates at area banks. 

 

9.      ADJOURMENT:   

 

President Michelle Pierce adjourned the Water Activity Enterprise meeting at 7:25 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted,    APPROVED: 

 

 

_____________________________   _________________________________ 

John Perusek, Secretary    Michelle Pierce, President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





































































AGENDA ITEM 5
Legal and Legislative Matters



 

February 17, 2022 

This report summarizes bills of interest to the District introduced in the General Assembly in 
this session and reviewed by the Legislative Committee. The links connect to the full text of the 
bills as introduced.  

HOUSE BILLS 

HB22-1012  CONCERNING HEALTHY FORESTS, AND, IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH,  CREATING THE WILDFIRE MITIGATION AND RECOVERY GRANT 
PROGRAM. 

House sponsors:  Cutter and Valdez D., Lynch, Snyder  Senate sponsors:  Ginal and Lee, Story 

Wildfire Matters Review Committee. Section 1 of the bill creates the wildfire mitigation 
and recovery grant program (grant program) in the Colorado state forest service (forest service) 
to provide grants to help counties with forested areas prevent and recover from wildfire 
incidents and ensure that such efforts are undertaken in a manner that reduces the amount of 
carbon that enters the atmosphere. In expending grant money, a county, to the extent 
practicable, shall ensure that biomass that is removed from forests is recycled or disposed of in a 
manner that reduces the amount of carbon that enters the atmosphere.  

 The forest service shall administer the grant program and, subject to available 
appropriations, award grants out of money annually appropriated to the forest service for the 
grant program. The forest service shall review grant applications in consultation with the 
division of fire prevention and control in the department of public safety and with the Colorado 
forest health council in the department of natural resources.  

 The grant program is repealed, effective September 1, 2028. Before the repeal, the grant 
program is scheduled for a sunset review by the department of regulatory agencies.  

Section 2 schedules this review. 

Status:  Introduced in House, Assigned to Energy & Environment 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  MONITOR 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:  Monitor 

 

 

 

LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITY REPORT 

COLORADO GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

2022 REGULAR SESSION 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_1012_01.pdf


2 
 

HB22-1151 CONCERNING MEASURES TO INCENTIVIZE WATER-WISE 
LANDSCAPES, AND, IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, CREATING A STATE 
PROGRAMTO FINANCE THE VOLUNTARY REPLACEMENT OF IRRIGATED 
TURF. 

House Sponsors:  Catlin and Rogers  Senate Sponsors:  Bridges and Simpson 

The bill requires the Colorado water conservation board (board) to develop a statewide program 
to provide financial incentives for the voluntary replacement of irrigated turf with water-wise 
landscaping (turf replacement program). The bill defines water-wise landscaping as a water- 
and plant-management practice that emphasizes using plants with lower water needs. Local 
governments, certain districts, Native American tribes, and nonprofit organizations with their 
own turf replacement programs may apply to the board for money to help finance their turf 
replacement programs. The board will contract with one or more third parties to administer one 
or more turf replacement programs in areas where local turf replacement programs do not exist. 

Status:  02/04/2022   Introduced in House, Assigned to Agriculture, Livestock & Water 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  SUPPORT 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:   

 

SENATE BILLS 

SB22-114 CONCERNING FIRE SUPPRESSION PONDS. 

Section 1 of the bill makes legislative findings and declarations.  

Section 2 allows a board of county commissioners (board) to apply to the state engineer for the 
designation of a pond as a fire suppression pond. The director of the division of fire prevention 
and control (director) in the department of public safety is required to promulgate rules to 
establish criteria for boards, in consultation with fire protection districts, to use to identify and 
evaluate potential fire suppression ponds. For each pond that is identified and under 
consideration as a potential fire suppression pond, a board must provide notice of such fact to 
the state engineer and to interested parties included in the substitute water supply plan 
notification list established for the water division in which the pond is located. Section 2 also 
prohibits the state engineer from draining any pond: !  

• While the pond is under consideration for designation as a fire suppression pond;   
• If the state engineer has designated the pond as a fire suppression pond;   
• On and after the effective date of the bill, and until the date upon which the director 

promulgates rules, with exceptions.  
Section 2 also states that a fire suppression pond and the water associated with it: 

• Are not considered a water right;  
• Do not have a priority for the purpose of determining water rights; and  
• May not be adjudicated as a water right.  

 
Section 3 requires the state engineer to review applications received from boards and, at the 
state engineer's discretion, designate ponds as fire suppression ponds. An application is 
presumed to be approved if the state engineer does not respond to the application within 63 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_1151_01.pdf
http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_114_01.pdf


3 
 

days after the application is received by the state engineer. The state engineer may not designate 
any pond as a fire suppression pond unless the pond existed as of January 1, 1975. Section 3 also 
allows the state engineer to impose reasonable requirements on a board as a condition of 
designating a pond as a fire suppression pond and requires a board and a fire protection district 
to inspect a fire suppression pond at least annually. The designation of a pond as a fire 
suppression pond expires 20 years after the date of the designation. Before the expiration, the 
board and the fire protection district must perform a needs assessment of the pond. If the needs 
assessment demonstrates that the pond is in compliance with criteria established in the 
director's rules, the board and fire protection district shall notify the state engineer of such fact, 
and the state engineer shall redesignate the pond as a fire suppression pond. If the needs 
assessment demonstrates that the pond is not in compliance with the criteria, the board and fire 
protection district may either:  

• Notify the state engineer that the designation of the pond as a fire suppression pond 
should be rescinded or allowed to expire; or  

• Provide to the state engineer a plan and a timeline for bringing the pond back into 
compliance with such criteria.  
 

Section 4 states that the designation of fire suppression ponds by the state engineer does not 
cause material injury to vested water rights. 
 
Status: 02/03/2022  Introduced in Senate, Assigned to Agriculture & Natural Resources 
 
UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  SUPPORT 
 
CWC State Affairs Committee position:  
 
SB22-115  CONCERNING CLARIFYING CERTAIN TERMS AS THE TERMS RELATE 
TO A LANDOWNER'S LIABILITY. 
 
Senate sponsors:  Jaquez Lewis and Gardner       House sponsors:  Soper and Tipper 
 
The bill clarifies the meaning of terms related to landowner liability and declares that the 
Colorado court of appeals and supreme court decisions in Rocky Mountain Planned 
Parenthood, Inc. v. Wagner should not be relied upon to the extent that those decisions 
determined:  

• The foreseeability of third-party criminal conduct based upon whether the goods or 
services offered by a landowner are controversial; and  

• That a landowner could be held liable as a substantial factor in causing harm without 
considering whether a third-party criminal act was the predominant cause of that harm. 

 
Status:  02/03/2022  Introduced in Senate, Assigned to Judiciary 
 
UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  SUPPORT 
 
CWC State Affairs Committee position:  Support 
 
 

https://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_115_01.pdf


4 
 

SB22-029  CONCERNING WATER SPECULATION IN THE STATE 
 
Senate sponsors:  Coram and Donovan, Bridges, Jaquez Lewis   House sponsor:  McCormick 
 
Water Resources Review Committee. Section 1 of the bill prohibits a purchaser of 
agricultural water rights that are represented by shares in a mutual ditch company from 
engaging in investment water speculation. Investment water speculation is the purchase of 
agricultural water rights that are represented by shares in a mutual ditch company in the state 
with the intent, at the time of purchase, to profit from an increase in the water's value in a 
subsequent transaction or by receiving payment from another person for nonuse of all or a 
portion of the water subject to the water right. 
 On or after January 1, 2023, the state engineer or the state engineer's designee (state 
engineer) may investigate complaints of investment water speculation. If a purchaser holds, or 
by virtue of a proposed sale or transfer, will hold at least a minimum percent of the shares in a 
mutual ditch company, about which minimum percent the mutual ditch company must 
determine and notify the state engineer on or before December 31, 2022, there is a rebuttable 
presumption that the purchaser is engaged in investment water speculation. The state engineer 
may fine a purchaser up to $10,000 for a violation and require, for a period of up to 2 years after 
a fine has been imposed, that any sale or transfer of shares in a mutual ditch company to the 
purchaser be subject to approval by the state engineer.  
 If the state engineer believes that a complaint is frivolous or was filed for the purpose of 
harassing a seller or purchaser, the state engineer may refer the matter to the attorney general's 
office for the attorney general or the attorney general's designee (attorney general) to investigate 
and, if the attorney general determines that enforcement is warranted, bring a civil action in a 
court of competent jurisdiction alleging the complaint is frivolous or was filed for the purpose of 
harassment. If the attorney general prevails in the civil action, the court may fine a complainant 
up to $1,000, prohibit the complainant from filing any complaints alleging investment water 
speculation for up to one year, and grant attorney fees and court costs.  
 Section 2 requires the board of directors of a mutual ditch company to determine the 
minimum percent of agricultural water rights held by all of the shareholders in the mutual ditch 
company that a purchaser holds or, by virtue of the sale or transfer of shares in the mutual ditch 
company, will hold that creates a rebuttable presumption that the purchaser is engaging in 
investment water speculation. 
 Section 3 authorizes the attorney general to bring a civil action against a complainant if 
the state engineer refers the matter to the attorney general.  
 
Status:  01/12/2022  Introduced in Senate, Assigned to Agriculture & Natural Resources 
 
UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  OPPOSE 
 
CWC State Affairs Committee position:   
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_029_01.pdf


5 
 

SB22-126  CONCERNING A REQUIREMENT THAT THE COLORADO WATER  
CONSERVATION BOARD PRIORITIZE WATER STORAGE IN THE SOUTH PLATTE 
RIVER BASIN IN CHOOSING PROJECTS TO FINANCE WITH MONEY FROM THE 
COLORADO WATER CONSERVATION BOARD CONSTRUCTION FUND. 
 
Senate Sponsors:  Sonnenberg and Donovan, Kirkmeyer, Lundeen, Scott, Simpson,Woodward. 
 
House sponsor:  Holtorf 
 
The Colorado water conservation board (board) finances water projects throughout the state. 
Current law requires the board to prioritize projects that will increase the beneficial 
consumptive use of Colorado's undeveloped compact-entitled waters. The bill includes within 
this priority a specific priority for projects that increase or improve water storage in the South 
Platte river basin as a means of increasing the beneficial consumptive use of undeveloped water 
entitled under the South Platte river compact and in a manner that reduces reliance on 
transmountain diversions. 
 
Status:  02/04/2022  Introduced in Senate, Assigned to Agriculture & Natural Resources 
 
UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:   OPPOSE 
 
CWC State Affairs Committee position: 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022A/bills/2022a_126_01.pdf


 
DRAFT  
 
Colorado River District proposed substitution for SB22-029 (Investment Water 
Speculation)  
 
 
37-92-402(11.5) Determination of Abandonment.  
 
For the purpose of procedures under this section, failure to apply water to a 
decreed beneficial use for a period of at least XX-days, which days need not be 
consecutive, when the failure to apply water to a decreed beneficial use (a) 
accompanies the payment of consideration to the water right owner or user to 
cease use of the water right for its decreed purposes, and (b) the water right is not 
a recognized participant in a program or process included in Section 103(2)(a) or 
103(2)(b) of this Article, shall create a determination of abandonment of a water 
right with respect to the amount of such available water which has not been so 
used, subject to confirmation by the applicable water court. 
 
 
37-92-103(2) Definition of Abandonment. 
 
 "Abandonment of a water right" means the termination of a water right in whole or 
in part as a result of the intent of the owner thereof to discontinue permanently the 
use of all or part of the water available thereunder, WHICH INTENT IS PRESUMED, 
SUBJECT TO REBUTTAL FOLLOWING A PERIOD OF NON-USE SET FORTH IN SECTION 
402(11) OF THIS ARTICLE, AND AS DETERMINED PURSUANT TO THE CRITERIA OF 
SECTION 402(11.5) OF THIS ARTICLE. Any period of nonuse of any portion of a water 
right shall be tolled, and no intent to discontinue permanent use PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 402(11) OR DETERMINATION OF ABANDONMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 
402(11.5) shall be found for purposes of determining an abandonment of a water 
right for the duration that: 
(a) The land on which the water right has been historically applied is enrolled under 
a federal land conservation program; or 
(b) The nonuse of a water right by its owner is a result of participation in: 
(I) A water conservation program approved by a state agency, a water conservation 
district, or a water conservancy district; 
(II) A water conservation program established through formal written action or 
ordinance by a municipality or its municipal water supplier; 



(III) An approved land fallowing program as provided by law in order to conserve 
water; 
(IV) A water banking program as provided by law; 
(V) A loan of water to the Colorado water conservation board for instream flow use 
under section 37-83-105 (2); or 
(VI) Any contract or agreement with the Colorado water conservation board that 
allows the board to use all or a part of a water right to preserve or improve the 
natural environment to a reasonable degree under section 37-92-102 (3). 
 
 



20CA1780 Hill v Warsewa 01-27-2022 
  

COLORADO COURT OF APPEALS 
 

 
Court of Appeals No. 20CA1780 

Fremont County District Court No. 18CV30069 
Honorable Lynette M. Wenner, Judge 

 

 

Roger Hill, 
 

Plaintiff-Appellant, 
 
v. 

 
Mark Everett Warsewa, Linda Joseph, and the State of Colorado, 

 
Defendants-Appellees. 
 

 

JUDGMENT AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART, 
AND CASE REMANDED WITH DIRECTIONS 

 

Division IV 
Opinion by JUDGE TOW 

Richman and Grove, JJ., concur 

 
NOT PUBLISHED PURSUANT TO C.A.R. 35(e) 

Announced January 27, 2022 
 

 
Alexander N. Hood, Denver, Colorado; Mark S. Squillace, Boulder, Colorado, for 

Plaintiff-Appellant 
 
Kirk Holleyman, P.C., Kirk B. Holleyman, Denver, Colorado, for Defendants-

Appellees Mark Everett Warsewa and Linda Joseph 
 

Philip J. Weiser, Attorney General, Scott Steinbrecher, Assistant Deputy 
Attorney General, Daniel E. Steuer, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Denver, 
Colorado, for Defendant-Appellee the State of Colorado 

 
Burns, Figa & Will, P.C., Stephen H. Leonhardt, April D.Hendricks, Greenwood 
Village Colorado, for Amicus Curiae Colorado Water Congress 

 

DATE FILED: January 27, 2022 
CASE NUMBER: 2020CA1780 



Michael J. Gustafson, City Attorney, Colorado Springs, Colorado, for Amicus 
Curiae City of Colorado Springs 

 
Law of the Rockies, LLC, Kendall Burgemeister, Gunnison, Colorado, for 

Amicus Curiae Upper Arkansas Water Conservacy District 
 
Hayes Pozanovic Korver LLC, David S. Hayes, Denver, Colorado for Amicus 

Curiae Taylor Placer, Ltd., Crystal Creek Homeowners Association, Inc., 
Jackson-Saw/Taylor River Ranch, LLC, and Wilder Association 
 

 



1 

¶ 1 Roger Hill appeals the district court’s judgment dismissing his 

complaint against Mark Everett Warsewa, Linda Joseph 

(collectively, the Warsewa defendants), and the State of Colorado 

asserting claims for quiet title and declaratory judgment.  We affirm 

in part, reverse in part, and remand the case for further 

proceedings.   

I. Background 

¶ 2 The Warsewa defendants own a parcel of land over and 

through which the Arkansas River passes.  For several years, Hill 

has attempted to fish on a particular bed of the river that is located 

on the Warsewa defendants’ land.  Hill maintains that “the disputed 

portion of the bed of the Arkansas River is public land owned by the 

State of Colorado and held in trust for the people of Colorado by 

virtue of it being navigable for title when Colorado became a state.”   

¶ 3 The navigability of the river at the time Colorado became a 

state is essential to Hill’s claim.  Under what is known as the 

“equal-footing doctrine,” each state, upon attaining statehood, 

“gains title within its borders to the beds of waters then navigable.”  

PPL Mont., LLC v. Montana, 565 U.S. 576, 591 (2012).  If the water 

was non-navigable at statehood, the United States retained title.  Id.  



2 

The United States thus retained the authority to grant title to the 

beds of non-navigable waters to private landowners.  See Hanlon v. 

Hobson, 24 Colo. 284, 288, 51 P. 433, 435 (1897).   

¶ 4 Navigability is a matter of federal law, and encompasses those 

rivers that were “used, or [were] susceptible of being used, in their 

ordinary condition, as highways for commerce, over which trade 

and travel are or may be conducted in the customary modes of 

trade and travel on water.”  PPL Mont., 565 U.S. at 591-92 (quoting 

The Daniel Ball, 77 U.S. 557 (1870)).  Navigability is determined not 

for an entire river but, rather, on a segment-by-segment basis.  Id. 

at 593.   

¶ 5 The Warsewa defendants disagree with Hill’s claim that the 

river was navigable upon statehood.  They maintain that the 

riverbed is their private property1 and have repeatedly taken steps 

— including both shows of force and threats of prosecution for 

trespass — to prevent Hill from using it.   

¶ 6 Hill brought claims against the Warsewa defendants seeking 

(1) to quiet title to the land in question, decreeing that it is “owned 

 
1 It appears undisputed that Warsewa and Joseph’s title can be 
traced back to an original federal land grant. 



3 

exclusively by the State of Colorado in trust for the public;” and 

(2) a declaratory judgment under C.R.C.P. 57 to bar the Warsewa 

defendants from excluding Hill from the riverbed.  Hill named the 

State of Colorado as an “interested party” in the suit.   

¶ 7 The Warsewa defendants removed the action to federal district 

court based on federal question jurisdiction.  In federal district 

court, Hill amended his complaint to name the State of Colorado as 

a defendant.  The State of Colorado shares the Warsewa defendants’ 

position that the riverbed at issue is private property belonging to 

the Warsewa defendants.  All defendants filed motions to dismiss 

due to lack of prudential standing, lack of Article III standing, and 

failure to state a claim for relief.  The federal district court granted 

the motions to dismiss, finding that Hill lacked prudential standing 

because he was asserting the rights of a third party.   

¶ 8 Hill appealed the federal district court’s dismissal to the Tenth 

Circuit.  The Tenth Circuit held that “[t]he district court erred by 

concluding that [Mr.] Hill lacked prudential standing to bring his 

claims,” but remanded the case for a determination whether Hill 

had standing under Article III.  Hill v. Warsewa, 947 F.3d 1305, 

1308-11 (10th Cir. 2020).  On remand, the federal district court 



4 

held that Hill lacked constitutional standing as well.  Rather than 

dismiss the action, the federal district court remanded the case to 

the state district court.   

¶ 9 Back in state court, all defendants moved to dismiss the case 

for lack of standing under C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1) and for failure to state a 

claim for which relief can be granted under C.R.C.P. 12(b)(5).  

Accepting both theories, the district court granted the motions to 

dismiss.   

¶ 10 Hill now appeals, arguing that the district court erred by 

dismissing his complaint.  

II. Rule 12(b)(1) Motion 

¶ 11 Hill contends that the district court erred by finding he lacked 

standing to sue because he failed to “sho[w] a personal legally 

protected right that is his to assert in a judicial forum” for both his 

claims.  We agree with the district court as to Hill’s quiet title claim.  

However, we conclude that Hill has standing to pursue his claim for 

declaratory judgment. 

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Law 

¶ 12 When considering a district court’s dismissal for lack of 

subject matter jurisdiction under C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1), we review the 



5 

district court’s legal conclusions de novo and its factual 

determinations, if any, for clear error.  See Monez v. Reinertson, 140 

P.3d 242, 244 (Colo. App. 2006).  The plaintiff bears the burden of 

proving jurisdiction.  City of Boulder v. Pub. Serv. Co. of Colo., 2018 

CO 59, ¶ 14.  A party’s standing to bring a claim is a question of 

law that we review de novo.  Ainscough v. Owens, 90 P.3d 851, 856 

(Colo. 2004).   

¶ 13 A standing question involves two considerations: (1) whether 

the party seeking judicial relief has alleged an actual injury from 

the challenged action, and (2) whether the injury is to a legally 

protected or cognizable interest.  Wimberly v. Ettenberg, 194 Colo. 

163, 168, 570 P.2d 535, 539 (1977).  The district court found that 

Hill sufficiently alleged an injury in fact, and appellees do not 

contest this finding.  Thus, our analysis focuses only on whether 

Hill has sufficiently alleged an injury to a legally protected interest.  

An interest is legally protected if the individual “has a claim for 

relief under the constitution, the common law, a statute, or a rule 

or regulation.”  Ainscough, 90 P.3d at 856. 



6 

B. The Quiet Title Action 

¶ 14 Hill sought to quiet title in the state, requesting that the 

district court declare that “the state of Colorado holds title to the 

subject real property in trust for the public.”   

¶ 15 C.R.C.P. 105 governs quiet title actions and requires that the 

proceeding “completely adjudicate the rights of all parties to the 

action claiming interests in the property.”  Keith v. Kinney, 961 P.2d 

516, 519 (Colo. App. 1997).  In a quiet title action, the plaintiff “has 

the burden of establishing title superior to that claimed by the 

defendant.”  Hinojos v. Lohmann, 182 P.3d 692, 697 (Colo. App. 

2008).  Accordingly, a party seeking to quiet title must show that it 

has an interest in the property itself.  Buell v. Redding Miller, Inc., 

163 Colo. 286, 290, 430 P.2d 471, 473 (1967); see also Hinojos, 182 

P.3d at 697 (“[T]he plaintiff may not capitalize on the weakness of 

the defendant’s claim to title, but can succeed only by establishing 

the strength of his or her own claim to title.”). 

¶ 16 Hill does not allege that he has title.  Instead, he alleges that 

the State of Colorado possesses the valid claim to title to the 

property in question.  Hill lacks standing, however, to pursue any 

claim the state may have to quiet that title.  See Cuddy v. Whatley, 



7 

157 Colo. 562, 563, 404 P.2d 533, 534 (1965); see also Meyer v. 

Haskett, 251 P.3d 1287, 1292 (Colo. App. 2010) (“Courts routinely 

deny defendants the standing to assert a third party’s right.” 

(quoting People v. Palomo, 31 P.3d 879, 885 (Colo. 2001))).   

¶ 17 Seeking to overcome this obstacle, Hill argues that by virtue of 

the equal-footing doctrine, the State of Colorado took title to the 

land at issue and holds it for the benefit of the public.  As a result, 

he contends, he (along with all other members of the public) has the 

right to access the property — a right which he claims is, in 

essence, an easement.2  He argues that Colorado courts have 

routinely permitted individuals to sue to enforce public easements.  

But Hill’s argument assumes too much.   

¶ 18 True, in developing the equal-footing doctrine, the United 

States Supreme Court has noted that states, upon their admission 

 
2 Hill incorrectly asserts that the Tenth Circuit “found” that his 
interest was an easement.  The first reference Hill cites was merely 
a restatement of his argument.  Hill v. Warsewa, 947 F.3d 1305, 
1306-07 (10th Cir. 2020).  The second is, at most, analogizing his 
claim to that of an easement holder.  Id. at 1310.  In any event, 
whether a purported interest in property is an easement is a matter 
of state law, and we are not bound by the federal courts in such 
matters.  First Nat’l Bank in Fort Collins v. Rostek, 182 Colo. 437, 
441 n.1, 514 P.2d 314, 316 n.1 (1973).   



8 

to the union, took title to the navigable waters and their beds in 

trust for the public, see PPL Mont., 565 U.S. at 604 (citing Shively v. 

Bowlby, 152 U.S. 1, 49 (1894)).  But while the equal-footing 

doctrine is a product of federal constitutional law, “the States retain 

residual power to determine the scope of the public trust over 

waters within their borders.”  Id. 

¶ 19 Put another way, “[s]tate law determines whether the public 

effectively has an easement over these lands for public trust 

purposes, whether the state may dispose of the lands through 

grants to private parties, whether private landowners have always 

held the lands, or whether some other regime is effective.”  In re 

Title, Ballot Title, & Submission Clause for 2011-2012 No. 3, 2012 

CO 25, ¶ 39 (Hobbs, J., dissenting).  Significantly, we are aware of 

no statute or published decision of a Colorado appellate court — 

nor does Hill direct us to one — that establishes that any right a 

member of the general public may have to the use of public land 

rises to the level of an easement or any other interest in the 

property sufficient to seek to quiet title.   

¶ 20 Moreover, Hill’s reliance on Turnbaugh v. Chapman, 68 P.3d 

570 (Colo. App. 2003), is misplaced.  In Turnbaugh, the plaintiff was 



9 

suing to enforce an easement expressly created by a plat.  Id. at 

571.  And, significantly, there is no indication that the plaintiff in 

Turnbaugh was permitted to quiet title to the property to which the 

easement attached on behalf of the public entity holding the 

easement.   

¶ 21 Because Hill himself has no claim to title and has not shown 

that his claim to public access rises to the level of an easement, he 

does not possess a legally protected interest.  He therefore has 

failed to carry his burden of establishing that he has standing to 

seek to quiet title.  Thus, the district court did not err by dismissing 

this claim under Rule 12(b)(1).   

C. Declaratory Judgment 

¶ 22 Hill also sought a declaratory judgment that the Warsewa 

defendants “have no right to exclude . . . Hill from wading in the 

Arkansas River at the subject location.”  In connection with this 

declaratory relief, Hill sought injunctive relief barring the Warsewa 

defendants from “threatening, assaulting or battering” him and 

from excluding him from the riverbed.   

¶ 23 “A declaratory judgment action is appropriate ‘when the rights 

asserted by the plaintiff are present and cognizable ones.’” 



10 

Wainscott v. Centura Health Corp., 2014 COA 105, ¶ 17 (quoting 

Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Dist. Ct., 862 P.2d 944, 947 (Colo. 1993)); see 

also Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs v. Bowen/Edwards Assocs., Inc., 830 

P.2d 1045, 1053 (Colo. 1992) (Standing requires “an existing legal 

controversy that can be effectively resolved by a declaratory 

judgment.”). 

¶ 24 Hill argues that, because the river was navigable at statehood, 

the riverbed is public land owned by the State of Colorado.  Thus, 

he, as a member of the public, is not trespassing by wading on the 

riverbed.  He therefore requests a declaratory judgment to that 

effect, as well as injunctive relief preventing the Warsewa 

defendants from treating him as a trespasser.  Here, unlike in the 

quiet title claim, Hill is alleging an interest that is his own — the 

right to wade and fish in the river at the location in question.  He 

further contends that, pursuant to section 18-4-504.5, C.R.S. 2021, 

he could not be considered a trespasser for entering or remaining in 

or upon the banks and beds of a navigable river.  Thus, he seeks to 



11 

clarify his rights in order to be free from threats of physical 

violence.3   

¶ 25 Our supreme court has said that the “core purpose of 

declaratory judgments [is] to clarify rights in advance of the 

commission of wrongs.”  S. Ute Indian Tribe v. King Consol. Ditch 

Co., 250 P.3d 1226, 1247 (Colo. 2011).  This is precisely what Hill 

seeks to achieve.  Therefore, he has sufficiently alleged a legally 

protected or cognizable interest “under the constitution, the 

common law, a statute, or a rule or regulation.”  Ainscough, 90 P.3d 

at 856.   

¶ 26 Appellees argue, however, that even if the river were 

considered navigable, Hill would not have a right to access as a 

member of the public “because there is no public trust doctrine in 

 
3 Hill also seeks to avoid what he contends is unwarranted 
prosecution.  He alleges that Warsewa threatened that Hill was 
“getting a summons,” and that Warsewa placed a note on Hill’s 
windshield stating, “You can and will be charged with trespassing!”  
The note further asserted that Warsewa was an employee of the 
county and that he would have the sheriff “run” Hill’s plate number.  
It is not at all clear that these allegations alone would demonstrate 
a sufficiently reasonable possibility of prosecution to permit him to 
pursue declaratory relief.  See Metal Mgt. W., Inc. v. State, 251 P.3d 
1164, 1175 (Colo. App. 2010).  We need not decide this issue, 
however, as Hill’s allegations regarding the threats of physical 
violence are sufficient.   



12 

Colorado.”  This may (or may not) be the case.  See City of Longmont 

v. Colo. Oil & Gas Ass’n, 2016 CO 29, ¶¶ 61-62 (noting that 

Colorado had no provision similar to one in the Pennsylvania 

Constitution declaring that the state’s natural resources “are the 

common property of all the people” (quoting Pa. Const. art. I, § 27)); 

People v. Emmert, 198 Colo. 137, 141, 597 P.2d 1025, 1027 (1979) 

(declining to adopt a public trust theory regarding the riverbeds of 

non-navigable waters).4  But a court cannot dismiss a claim for lack 

of standing based on the merits of the underlying substantive claim.  

See Hickenlooper v. Freedom from Religion Found., Inc., 2014 CO 77, 

¶ 7 (Standing is a jurisdictional prerequisite that “must be 

determined prior to a decision on the merits.”).  We therefore do not 

consider the question of whether Hill would actually prevail on his 

contention that he has a public right of access to the riverbed. 

¶ 27 Appellees also contend that “Hill asserts only a generalized 

grievance held in common with the public that is insufficient to 

confer standing.”  Initially, we acknowledge that the prudential 

 
4 We note, however, that we are aware of no Colorado appellate 
decision that has addressed the issue of whether — and, if so, how 
— the public trust doctrine applies to the beds of navigable waters.   



13 

prong of our standing test (i.e., that the plaintiff’s injury must be to 

a legally protected or cognizable interest) is aimed at ensuring that 

“the claim not be an abstract, generalized grievance that the courts 

are neither well equipped nor well advised to adjudicate.”  City of 

Greenwood Village v. Petitioners for Proposed City of Centennial, 3 

P.3d 427, 437 (Colo. 2000) (quoting Sec’y of State of Md. v. Joseph 

H. Munson Co., 467 U.S. 947, 955 n.5 (1984)).5  But Hill does not 

present an abstract or generalized challenge to the government’s 

actions; instead, he presents a specific request for a declaratory 

judgment to prevent the Warsewa defendants from barring his use 

of the riverbed, and alleges concrete injuries (or at least threats of 

injuries) that have actually occurred and that he is seeking to avoid 

in the future.  The district court observed that “[w]hatever right 

 
5 That being said, as our supreme court has also acknowledged, our 
prudential standing analysis is not necessarily informed by federal 
cases cautioning against “generalized grievance[s]” because the 
federal analysis is concerned with the constitutionally rooted 
jurisdictional limitations on the federal courts to only entertain 
certain “cases” and “controversies.”  Conrad v. City & Cnty. of 
Denver, 656 P.2d 662, 669 (Colo. 1982) (citations omitted).  Indeed, 
as the Tenth Circuit pointed out, the “generalized grievance” 
analysis in the federal court is relevant to constitutional, rather 
than prudential, standing.  Hill, 947 F.3d at 1311.  Because our 
district courts, unlike the federal courts, are courts of general 
jurisdiction, the analysis is not interchangeable.   



14 

[Hill] might possess in accessing the disputed riverbed he shares 

with all members of the public.”  While this may be true, there is no 

indication that all members of the public have been threatened with 

physical harm and prosecution for trespass.  Thus, Hill’s claim is 

not a generalized or abstract claim, but a particularized one.   

¶ 28 Because Hill’s declaratory judgment claim sufficiently alleges 

an injury to a legally protected or cognizable interest, we conclude 

that the district court erred by dismissing this claim under Rule 

12(b)(1). 

III. Rule 12(b)(5) Motion 

¶ 29 Having determined that the district court erred in dismissing 

Hill’s claim for a declaratory judgment under Rule 12(b)(1), we next 

consider whether the district court erred in dismissing the claim 

under Rule 12(b)(5).6   

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Law 

¶ 30 A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Rule 

12(b)(5) “is designed to allow defendants to ‘test the formal 

 
6 Because we conclude that dismissal of the quiet title claim was 
proper under C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1), we need not address whether it was 
also proper under C.R.C.P. 12(b)(5).   



15 

sufficiency of the complaint.’”  Coors Brewing Co. v. Floyd, 978 P.2d 

663, 665 (Colo. 1999) (quoting Dorman v. Petrol Aspen, Inc., 914 

P.2d 909, 911 (Colo. 1996)).  To survive a motion to dismiss under 

Rule 12(b)(5), a plaintiff must state a plausible claim for relief.  

Warne v. Hall, 2016 CO 50, ¶ 42. 

¶ 31 In ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(5), a court 

considers the facts alleged in the complaint, taking them as true 

and viewing them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.  Begley 

v. Ireson, 2017 COA 3, ¶ 8.  We review de novo a district court’s 

ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(5).  See Denver Post 

Corp. v. Ritter, 255 P.3d 1083, 1088 (Colo. 2011). 

B. Analysis 

¶ 32 After its lengthy analysis of the Rule 12(b)(1) dismissal, the 

district court rather summarily addressed the Rule 12(b)(5) motion.  

The court concluded that Hill failed “to show how the common law 

and constitutional law on which he relies for the substantive 

conclusion that the riverbed is public property also provide a 

private cause of action for the enforcement.”  The court appears to 

have conflated the question of the plausibility of the claim with the 



16 

“injury to a legally recognizable interest” prong of the standing 

analysis.   

¶ 33 Again, Rule 12(b)(5) merely requires that Hill state a plausible 

claim for relief.  We conclude that he has.   

¶ 34 If, as Hill alleges, the relevant segment of the river was 

navigable at statehood, then the Warsewa defendants do not own 

the riverbed and would have no right to exclude him from it by 

threats of physical violence or prosecution for trespass.  In support 

of his claim, Hill proffers numerous factual allegations that the river 

was used for commerce at or near the time of statehood, including 

floating beaver pelts, logs, and railroad ties down the river.  We 

certainly cannot, at this early stage, know whether Hill will be able 

to establish that the river segment was navigable at statehood.  But 

we cannot say it is not plausible.   

¶ 35 Moreover, as noted, the question of whether, and to what 

extent, the public trust doctrine should apply to the bed of a 

navigable river has never been resolved — or, as far as we can tell, 

even addressed — in Colorado.  Nor has Hill’s claim that he is 

entitled to access to the riverbed based on English common law 



17 

been resolved or addressed.  Thus, it cannot be said that the law as 

it stands now unequivocally bars Hill’s claim.   

¶ 36 Because Hill states a plausible claim, the district court erred 

by granting the motion to dismiss the declaratory judgment claim 

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(5).7   

IV. Conclusion 

¶ 37 The judgment is affirmed in part and reversed in part.  The 

case is remanded for further proceedings consistent with this 

opinion. 

JUDGE RICHMAN and JUDGE GROVE concur. 

 
7 Of course, in light of our resolution of the standing issue related to 
Hill’s quiet title claim, we reiterate that Hill cannot, under the guise 
of declaratory judgment, seek any declaration regarding the State of 
Colorado’s title or ownership of the riverbed — only that the 
Warsewa defendants do not own it.   



  

 
 

NOTICE CONCERNING ISSUANCE OF THE MANDATE 
 
 
Pursuant to C.A.R. 41(b), the mandate of the Court of Appeals may issue forty-three 
days after entry of the judgment.  In worker’s compensation and unemployment 
insurance cases, the mandate of the Court of Appeals may issue thirty-one days after 
entry of the judgment.  Pursuant to C.A.R. 3.4(m), the mandate of the Court of Appeals 
may issue twenty-nine days after the entry of the judgment in appeals from 
proceedings in dependency or neglect. 
 
Filing of a Petition for Rehearing, within the time permitted by C.A.R. 40, will stay the 
mandate until the court has ruled on the petition.  Filing a Petition for Writ of Certiorari 
with the Supreme Court, within the time permitted by C.A.R. 52(b), will also stay the 
mandate until the Supreme Court has ruled on the Petition. 
 
 
 
    BY THE COURT: Gilbert M. Román,    
                  Chief Judge 
 
 
DATED:  January 6, 2022 
 

Notice to self-represented parties:  The Colorado Bar Association provides free 

volunteer attorneys in a small number of appellate cases.  If you are representing 

yourself and meet the CBA low income qualifications, you may apply to the CBA to 

see if your case may be chosen for a free lawyer.  Self-represented parties who are 

interested should visit the Appellate Pro Bono Program page at 

http://www.cobar.org/appellate-pro-bono 

 

 
STATE OF COLORADO 

2 East 14th Avenue 

Denver, CO 80203 

(720) 625-5150 

 

PAULINE BROCK 

CLERK OF THE COURT 



AGENDA ITEM 6
Gothic Raw Water Presentation by 

Janna Hansen, Town of CB



AGENDA ITEM 7
Basin Water Supply Report



1 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members 
 
FROM: Beverly Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

 
DATE: February 17, 2022 

 
SUBJECT: Basin Water Supply Information 
 

The information supplied as part of this memorandum is a monthly feature and includes information about 
drought conditions in the basin, reservoir storage, reservoir operations, and the Upper Gunnison 
Cloudseeding Program.   
 
Drought Conditions: 
 
According to the Drought Monitor at drought.gov as of February 8, 2022, drought conditions are slowly 
worsening throughout the state with 62% of the state now experiencing severe (D2) or extreme (D3) 
drought conditions.  This is significantly worse than the November 2, 2021, report where only 30% of the 
state was experiencing extreme drought conditions.  This is primarily on the eastern slope as precipitation 
has been almost non-existent through-out the winter months in that area.  These conditions are reflected in 
the current conditions map for the state provided below.    

 
 



2 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

Gunnison County 
 
Drought conditions in Gunnison County remained about the same as in January though there was an 
improvement in those area experiencing Abnormally Dry (D0) and Moderate Drought (D1) conditions.   
According to the U.S. Drought Monitor, dated February 8, 2022,  29% of Gunnison County is experiencing 
Abnormally Dry (D0) conditions, 43% Moderate (D1) conditions, and 28% Severe (D2) conditions.  This 
is a slight improvement from the beginning of the water year when the county was experiencing only 3% 
of Abnormally Dry, 69% Moderate, and 28% Severe drought conditions. This is reflected in the current 
conditions map for Gunnison County provided below. 
 

 
 

Even though drought conditions have remained about the same since the beginning of the water year, 
precipitation in January did not follow the same track as in December.  In January, Gunnison County 
experienced the 20th driest January in the 128-year recorded time span and was 1.14” below normal 
precipitation.  This is forecasted to persist through the next 30 days, as reflected in the figure below, where 
precipitation totals are forecasted to range from 0 to 75% below normal. 
  
 



3 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 

Hinsdale County 

According to the U.S. Drought Monitor, dated February 8, 2022,  drought conditions in Hinsdale County 
have steadily worsened, with 100% of Hinsdale County experiencing Moderate (D1) to Severe (D2) 
conditions.  At the beginning of the water year, 29% of the county was experiencing Abnormally Dry (D0), 
and 71% was experiencing Moderate (D1) conditions.  The current conditions are reflected in the current  
conditions map for Hinsdale County provided below. 
 

 
 
 



4 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 
 
 
Precipitation in Hinsdale County has been low with the county experiencing the 11th driest January in the 
128-year recorded history and was 1.83” below normal precipitation.  This is also forecasted to persist for 
at least the next 30 days as reflected in the figure below.  Precipitation amounts are forecasted to range 
anywhere from 0 to 50% of normal for the entire county. 
 



5 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 

Saguache County 

According to the U.S. Drought Monitor, dated February 8, 2022, drought conditions in Saguache County 
have not fared as well as Gunnison and Hinsdale County and this is still the case with much of the upper 
Rio Grande River basin.  The entire county  is now listed as experiencing Severe (D2) or Extreme (D3) 
conditions.  This is a significant change from conditions that existed at the beginning of the water year 
where the entire county was in Abnormally Dry (44 %) to Severe (.63%) conditions.  This is reflected in 
the current conditions figure below. 

 



6 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 
 
Precipitation in Saguache County has been low but not as dry as Gunnison and Hinsdale County.  
Saguache County experienced the 55th driest January in the 128-year recorded history and was .26” below 
normal precipitation.  The 30-day forecast for Saguache County reflects that the eastern part of the county 
could receive precipitation ranging from 100 to 300% of normal as reflected in the figure provided below.  
Hopefully this precipitation will aid in lessening some of the drought conditions in that area. 



7 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 
 

Reservoir Storage 

Reservoir storage in the Gunnison Basin is at 52% of full.  The reservoirs in the Upper Gunnison Basin, 
Taylor and Blue Mesa, are at 55% and 29% respectively.  This is reflected in the tea-cup diagram below 
dated February 13. 

  



8 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

Aspinall Unit Operations: 

This update was provided by the Bureau of Reclamation from their Aspinall Operations page and is dated 
February 11, 2022.   

The unregulated inflow volume to Blue Mesa Reservoir in January was 19,626 acre-feet (82% of average).  
Unregulated inflow volumes forecasted for the next three months (February-April) are projected to be a 
total of 101,000 acre-feet (75% of average).  The unregulated inflow total for 2022 is currently projected to 
be 825,000 acre-feet (91% of average based on recorded period of 1991-2020).  The inflows for the water 
supply period (April-July) is projected to be 585,000 acre-feet (91% of average). 

Snowpack development in the Upper Gunnison Basin was very low in January but the current snowpack 
level is still at 111% (107% as of February 14) based of the period of record (1991-2020). 

Taylor Park Reservoir Operations: 

The Bureau of Reclamation provided an update of Taylor Park Reservoir operations using the February 1 
forecast from the Colorado Basin River Forecast Center.  This forecast indicated that there will be 100,000 
acre-feet of runoff flowing into the reservoir which is 106% of average.  This forecast puts the year type in 
the Average Year category.  Based on this year type, there is a requirement for a spring peak release of 445 
cfs for 5 days. 

The preliminary operations plan indicates that the reservoir could fill to a maximum seasonal content of 
97,000 acre-feet which is 93% full.  Releases from Taylor Park Reservoir continue at the winter flow rate 
of 72 cfs and will continue at that rate through the month of March. 

Snowpack in the Taylor River watershed is at 108% of normal.  December snow accumulation was 227% 
of average for the entire Upper Gunnison basin, but only 69% of average for January. 

Lake San Cristobal Update: 

The current elevation (February 14) for Lake San Cristobal is 8994.29 which is up slightly from the 
January 12 reading of 8994.17.  The flows out of the reservoir are currently at 9.64 cfs.  We spoke with 
Dan Brauch with CPW previously on the flows not meeting the winter rate of the instream flow and his 
response is below: 
 
Since the base flow period through the winter is pretty long and we do not have a lot of stored water to 
work with to benefit the fishery, I would not recommend trying to bump flows up to meet the 20 cfs, but 
would also want to be sure we are maintaining base flows by passing through inflows to maintain stream 
habitat downstream of Lake San Cristobal, especially since we are currently not meeting the 20 cfs. – Dan 
Brauch 

Lake Powell Update: 

The Bureau of Reclamation provided an update on Lake Powell on the Glen Canyon Dam Operations page 
dated January 14, 2022. 



9 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 
The Upper Basin Drought Response Operations Agreement (DROA) provisions to protect a target 
elevation at Lake Powell of 3,525 feet have been incorporated into the January 2022 24-Month Study and 
include an adjusted monthly release volume pattern for Glen Canyon Dam that will hold back a total of 
0.350 million acre-feet (maf) in Lake Powell from January through April. There are continued discussions 
when and how that same amount of water (0.350 maf) will be released later in the water year.  
 
The annual release volume from Lake Powell for water year 2022 will continue to be 7.48 maf. If future 
projections indicate the monthly adjustments are insufficient to protect Powell’s elevation, Reclamation 
will again consider additional water releases from the upstream initial units of the Colorado River Storage 
Project later this year.  

The unregulated inflow volume to Lake Powell during December was 266 thousand acre-feet (kaf) (83% of 
average). The release volume from Glen Canyon Dam in December was 600 kaf. The end of December 
elevation and storage of Lake Powell were 3,537.33 feet (163 feet from full pool) and 7.02 maf (29% of 
live capacity), respectively.  The current inflow forecasts into Lake Powell are: minimum probable – 6.37 
maf (66% of average), most probable – 8.77 maf (91% of average), maximum probable – 13.88 maf (145% 
of average).   

Cloudseeding Report (North American Weather Consultants; NAWC) & SWE in the Snowpack: 

According to the North American Weather Consultants report dated February 2, 2022, the weather pattern 
for January in this area was largely dominated by high pressure and dry weather.  Many of the storms that 
came across Colorado brought little more than a few high clouds and colder temperatures.  There was only 
one storm that was suitable for seeding operations and this occurred on January 8.  There were a total of 
78.5 generator hours used in January which was significantly lower that December where 473.75 hours 
were used.  This is reflected in the graph provided below which shows a flatline for much of January. 



10 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 

The table below shows snow water equivalent for the water year as of February 1, 2022 at the five Blue 
Mesa SNOTEL sites.   

  Measurement 
Site 

Snow Water Equivalent (inch) Water Year Precipitation (inch) 
2-1-22 Percent of Average 2-1-22 Percent of Average 

Butte 9.9 119 11.0 116 
Schofield Pass 25.4 143 26.9 146 

Park Cone 8.4 140 9.7 143 
Porphyry Creek 11.1 118 12.0 135 

Slumgullion 6.3 72 6.4 76 
Upper Gunnison 

Basin %  118  123 

As of February 1, 2022, snow water equivalent in the Upper Gunnison Basin was above normal, with a 
basin-wide average of 118%.  Water year precipitation was also above normal, at an average of 123%.  

The figure below summarizes SWE for the entire Gunnison River Basin as of January 24, 2022.  This 
information is provided by NRCS.  The graph represents snowpack as the current percent of normal 
(125%), the current percent in comparison to last year (182%), and the percent of peak (68%), and the 
percent of normal needed to reach the peak (70%).   



11 
220217 Board Packet Memo_final 

 

 

Think More Snow! 

 



AGENDA ITEM 8
BREAK



AGENDA ITEM 9
Treasurer's Report



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Director Bill Nesbitt, Treasurer 

DATE: February 15, 2022 

SUBJECT: Treasurer’s Report - February 

Director Nesbitt is unable to attend our February 2022 Regular Board Meeting and has 

graciously provided the following Treasurer’s Report to President Pierce and the General 

Manager via email. 

A. Rob Casacelli, our bond investment adviser, initiated a new 1.47% purchase for

approximately 18 months with maturing funds after discussions with me and Sonja. This

interest rate was much better than a quote from 3 weeks ago.

B. CD rates continue to be weak. I have talked with four local banks and the Lake City branch

of Community Banks of Colorado and right now rates are low and not competitive and less

than 1% rate of return, but my philosophy is that we need to keep funds in local banks even if

the rates are not as strong as we could get with other venues. I am all ears if any board

members or staff have a different opinion. I think local CD's make for good relations in the

long run.

C. Market instability has been cussed and discussed since before the January 25-26th meeting

of the FED. Jay Powell, Chairman of the FED is no longer using the word "transitory" in

defining inflation. As of yesterday, the financial pundits and economists are bandying about

how many rate hikes for this year. At this time 4, 5 and 7 rate hikes have been pushed by the

large investment houses and banks. Goldman Sachs is pushing for 7. Some talk about .25%

for the firs rate hike in March and others this week have started lobbying for a "shock" to the

market of .50% or a full 1% starting in March. Yesterday, I watched James Bullard, FED

Reserve President of the St. Louis branch, say on CNBC that the "FED's credibility is on the

line in its quest to bring inflation down from the current 40 year high of more than 7%."

There was more said but he was delivering a message to the investment community prior to

the next FED meeting of "belt tightening" maneuvers that may not be palatable to the market

as the FED's past policy of quantitative easing-QE-.

D. In my opinion we can do nothing but be observers to the unfolding political and financial

situation building between Russia and Ukraine. Russia, with the past aid of many American

oil and gas companies, is the largest natural gas supplier for Europe and a number of Asian

countries. Our President made a comment over the weekend about sending that Russian

natural gas to Germany in the event of war.  A number of large financial houses are

concerned about his passing comment because of existing large contracts that are in play.

Stay tuned.



E. Lastly, there was a closed door meeting Valentine's Day of the FED under the auspices of 

 "Expedited Procedures"  to discuss "advance and discount rates to be charged by the Federal 
Reserve Bank" and it was "determined that the public interest did not require opening the 
meeting." I have talked with our bond dealer and a couple of long-term bankers that were a 
bit surprised and the common theme was "time will tell". Reuters news service picked it up 
but there was really nothing in the article than conjecture about the upcoming meeting and 
that some analysts are calling "now" for a 1.00% rate hike immediately in March.

Our assets are safe, liquid and yielding a reasonable rate of return. In my opinion, there will 

be belt tightening created by events out of our personal control. Remember, the sky is not 

falling, although some would like to see that because as "short sellers" they can make a lot of 
money on the way down. 

I hope this overview is helpful. There is a lot more on the European front, and Japan is 
issuing some central bank problems. I think there are dark clouds financially over the 

horizon and think we need to be attentive and conservative with our funds.

 Be Well...Bill Nesbitt 

Received via Email: Tuesday, February 15, 2022 8:51 AM 



AGENDA ITEM 10
Board Discusssion-Coordinated 
Emergency Response Planning 

and Demand Management



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM: Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE: February 16, 2022 

SUBJECT: UGRWCD Engagement in Emergency Response Planning 

Background: In the last two years Colorado has experienced four large fires.  In total 600,000 

acres have burned. The most recent Marshall Creek fire being one of the most destructive, 

burning a thousand homes and causing $500M in damages and the loss of two lives.   

These intense fires can have significant and long-lasting impacts on water-quality and watershed 

conditions impacting wildlife, water chemistry, and severely damaging soils.  Soil damage from 

intense fires can lead to erosion, flooding, and debris flows that can damage infrastructure, 

drinking water supplies, and create public safety concerns.  

Colorado has learned many lessons as communities have worked to recover from these fires. The 

City of Gunnison Source Water Protection Planning stakeholder group asked Raquel Flinker of 

the Colorado River District to prepare a list of lessons learned from the Grizzly Creek and No 

Name fires related to emergency response and wildfire preparedness from the perspective of a 

water district.  Those lessons include:  

• Map vulnerable infrastructure

• Develop redundant water sources with full water delivery capability and treatment for

redundant supplies

• Define key water quality monitoring locations (such as turbidity meters with alarm above

intakes)

• Prepare, at least have design, for sourced surface water treatment processes to handle

more turbid, sediment laden water

• Establish a source water protection plan with a wildfire and watershed assessment

The UGRWCD has taken some very important first steps in the development of a prioritized list 

of areas and actions related to pre-wildfire mitigation planning efforts within the basin.  

Activities include: 

• Phase 1 Wildfire Hazard Risk Assessment that includes mapping of vulnerable

infrastructure, source water protection areas, and forest areas prone to fast moving and

hot crown fires.

• Phase 1 Geo-fluvial Assessment that will identify areas vulnerable to potential post-fire

debris flow.



• Source Water Protection planning with the Colorado Rural Water Association and a 

stakeholder workgroup to complete a City of Gunnison Source Water Protection Plan. 

• Working with the Upper Gunnison Shared Stewardship Council on forest treatments and 

wildfire planning and protection 

• Leading a Wet Meadows Restoration and Resiliency Program that restores natural 

features across the landscape that also serve as low-tech and low-cost fire mitigation 

features. 

• Updated Wetland Assessment for the Upper Gunnison Base (anticipate commencing this 

spring) to help identify areas where wetland restoration could occur as a natural 

landscape feature which helps to mitigate impacts from wildfire. 

 

It is the General Manager’s understanding that the District has not been an active participant in 

emergency response planning in our watershed.  It is the recommendation of the General 

Manager that the District begin preliminary conversations with emergency response teams in the 

three counties that make up our District to gain an understanding of existing plans and any gaps 

in those response plans as it relates to water resources. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Direct the General Manager to engage with emergency response 

planning teams and evaluate the adequacy of emergency response plans as it relates to water 

resources so that the District can be prepared to assist in the event of an emergency. 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM: Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE: February 16, 2022 

SUBJECT: Demand Management Conceptual Market Structure 

Background: On February 9, 2022, Colorado River District General Manager, Andy Mueller, 

brought the Demand Management Conceptual Market Structure back to the River District Board 

for additional targeted discussion based upon feedback they had received. Attached is a copy of 

that Memorandum. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Have a targeted UGRWCD Board discussion facilitated by the 

District’s General Counsel and General Manager related to comments received on the Demand 

Management Conceptual Market Structure. Document any additional thoughts or input we’d like 

to provide to the CRWCD Staff and Board.  







































AGENDA ITEM 11
General Manager and Staff Reports



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM: Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE: February 16, 2022 

SUBJECT: General Manager’s Report – February 

I. Homestake Pitch Uranium Mine Proposal to Water Quality Control Commission

Background: The UGRWCD was concerned with a statement put forward by Homestake

Mining Company to the Water Quality Control Commission (WQCC) at the November 2021

Issues Formulation Hearing related to their intention to request that the WQCC “…remove

the water supply use on Marshall Creek, assuming that they could complete activities

proposed…in a timely manner.”  Those activities included redrilling wells in the town of

Sargents into the bedrock to eliminate the consideration of these wells as alluvial aquifers

that might be under the influence of Marshall Creek, to ensure that alluvial wells could not be

drilled along the stretch of Marshall Creek that runs from the confluence with Indian Creek

to the confluence with Tomichi Creek.  The concern was that this proposal would have set a

precedent that permitted entities can restrict or limit future water uses or remove standards

from streams in order to avoid treating pollutants they are obligated to treat under the federal

Clean Water Act.

Update: The UGRWCD received word from Ashley Bembenek who consults with the

Northwest Colorado Council of Governments Water Quality and Quantity Group (a.k.a. QQ)

that Homestake submitted their proposal to the Colorado Department of Public Health and

Environment Water Quality Control Commission on January 14th, 2022, for the upcoming

June Rulemaking Hearing.  The proposal ultimately did not include a request to remove

drinking water standards from Marshall Creek and instead included a request to have their

temporary modification extended.  Staff believe that an extension to their temporary

modification of the standard is better than having no drinking water standard at all.  Given

this fact, the UGRWCD General Counsel and General Manager decided that they should

hold-off on submitting a letter to the Saguache County Commissioners and instead bring this

update to the UGRWCD Board to see if they would like to reconsider their January direction

to staff which was to send a letter outlining our concerns. Staff will still move forward on

requesting “party status” for the Rulemaking hearing in order to be able to actively monitor

the situation.

RECOMMENDATION FOR ACTION: Discussion on continued need to move forward

with a letter to the Saguache County Commissioners.



II. Proposed Gunnison Headwaters Wetland Mitigation Bank: Colorado State Land Board 

Background: 

Update: The Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) provided a letter to Rocky Mountain 

Mitigation, LLC, regarding their findings on the proposed Gunnison Headwaters 

Mitigation Bank (GHMB) as a compensatory mitigation site for wetland impacts in the 

Gunnison Basin (See Attachment A).  In summary, the Corps determined that additional 

information was necessary to determine whether the proposed wetland mitigation bank 

had the potential to provide compensatory mitigation.  Staff believe that the Corps 

listened to concerns identified by stakeholders in the Upper Gunnison Basin and did a 

thorough job of summarizing the need for missing information and areas needing 

additional clarity.  At this point, further progress on the proposal rests with the applicant 

(Colorado State Land Board) and their consultant (Rocky Mountain Mitigation, LLC). 

The UGRWCD will continue to monitor the situation.  

 

III.  Investments:  

A. Community Banks Lake City Certificate of Deposit 

At the January 2022 Board meeting, the Board decided to keep our existing funding with 

the Community Banks in Lake City in order to support business across our basin.  The 

Board also directed the General Manager to look into CD rates at Community Banks.  

 

The current CD balance is $104,326.74 and we were earning 0.15 percent interest. In 

email discussion with Director Nesbitt (Treasurer), it was decided that renewing the 

current CD for a fifteen-month term would be the best investment approach as he 

anticipates that rates will go up over the next year. The published rate for a 15-month CD 

at Community Banks is 0.35 percent. 

 

B. U.S. Treasury Note 

We had a $400,000 U.S. Treasury Note mature on February 15, 2022. Given the current 

rate environment and the anticipation of rates increasing sometime over the next year, our 

District financial adviser suggested we purchase another $400,000 U.S. Treasury Note at 

a 1.475% yield with an expiration date of December 31, 2022. This leaves us with a 

$13,000 balance that will be held until our next investment. 

 

C. District Phone System Upgrade 

The District is in the process of converting our phone system to Lightspeed Voice Over 

Internet Protocol (VOIP). A VOIP phone system works through an internet connection rather 

than a telephone line. VOIP converts your voice into a digital signal which travels over the 

internet to its destination and has a multitude of features including voice to email conversion, 

call forward to our cell phones, music while on hold, an automated attendant, ability for staff 

to chat, intercom, call monitoring, call record, conference calling, etc.   

 

The District reached a point where we are unable to find replacement phones or phones that 

can integrate with our current system which is over 16 years old.  We’ve also been having 



issues with dropped calls/connections, poor sound quality, etc.  The new system will also 

bring added efficiency and benefits to our internal communication as well as enable 

improved communication while we travel.     

 

Quotes were obtained and presentations were given on potential VOIP systems from: 

• Gobins: Also provides our copy machine services with staff based in Salida; and 

• Lightspeed: Works locally with GL Computers who oversees the install and 

integration with our network and provides trouble-shooting services.  GL Computers 

is currently contracted with the District for IT services.  

The monthly costs were comparable at approximately $270.  A decision was made to work 

with Lightspeed in order to keep our business in Gunnison with the added benefit of having 

local technical support from GL Computers.  There will be an increase in our telephone 

operating budget moving forward of approximately $2,200 per year. 

Transition to the new system will occur on March 8th at 8:00 a.m. 

 

D. Waters of the United States (WOTUS) Update 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and Army Corps of Engineers are working to 

repeal the 2020 definition of the WOTUS and re-instate the pre-2015 regulatory definition of 

WOTUS.  Please see attached comments to the EPA and Corps: 

• Northwest Colorado Council of Government, QQ Member Update: “Waters of the 

US:”Repeal of Trump-Era Rule, Replace with Pre-2015 Regulatory Definition 

(Attachment B); and 

• Colorado Water Congress Request for Comments on Proposed Rule Defining “Waters 

of the United States”(Attachment C). 

 

E. Colorado River District Update 

The following is an abbreviated list of important items coming out of the Colorado River 

District Board of Directors Meeting: 

• Community Funding Partnership Program:  

o General Manager total annual authorization increased to $1M for projects 

equal to or less than $50,000 

o Decrease in insurance requirements for project proponents from $2M to $1M 

depending upon project scope 

o Awarded $3M in 2021 to twenty-three projects 

o CFP Balance beginning 2022 is $6.2M 

o Emergency Assistance: General Manager authorization for approval. 

Reimbursement for project costs up to six months prior.  

• Colorado River District Water Quality Monitoring Program: Reducing scope and size 

of their water-quality monitoring program for selenium and salinity which was $78k , 



and reallocating approximately $30k-35k to New Grand Valley TMDL/Stakeholder 

Effort.  

F. Gunnison County BOCC Discusses Cheatgrass Control Program 

Cheatgrass, commonly known as Downy brome, is an annual winter invasive species that 

thrives in disturbed and agitated soils. A grass species natively found in Europe and eastern 

Asia, cheatgrass is widespread in the American West.  Cheatgrass was primarily introduced 

through cropping and other agricultural practices.  Cheatgrass invasion weakens sagebrush 

ecosystems in resilience and susceptibility and is a struggle for public land agencies to 

control. Cheatgrass has spread from the Great-Basin of Utah all the way into western 

Colorado. The introduction of domestic livestock like cattle and sheep in our country and 

overgrazing have contributed to problem because the grass overtakes any voids in native 

grass cover. 

 

Characteristics that make this species a problem include: 

• Completes its lifecycle quickly. Grows in the spring and then dies off in June 

lengthening the fire season 

• Has fine leaves and stems which easily ignite causing fires to spread rapidly. 

• Prolific seed producer which overpowers native vegetation, takes over landscapes and 

creates a continuous fuel base. 

• Greater regrowth after fire due to its ability to utilize increased nitrogen in soils 

following a fire. 

• Shallow root system concentrated in top 12 inches of soil that allows it to absorb 

much of the water and nutrients during the spring growing season outcompeting 

native plans for limited resources. 

• The loss of native plants which have deeper root systems and direct effect on 

diversity of soil microorganisms contributes to unhealthy soils. 

• Creation of grass monoculture 

• Cheatgrass does not meet the nutritional or habitat needs of most wildlife species 

Recommendations for how to control Cheatgrass: 

• Quickly rehabilitate burned areas by seeding with native plant species 

• Apply pre-emergent herbicides 

• Practice good grazing management 

• Strategically focus spring livestock grazing in areas where cheatgrass is dominant  

• Establish fuel breaks known as “green strips” to help slow down a fire and give fire 

suppression forces more time to attack the fire 

(Excerpts from: www.sagegrouseinitiative.com and www.gbsea.weebly.com ) 

Because of the strong nexus to District efforts to sustain Gunnison sage grouse populations 

and habitat, concerns around the impact of climate change, drought, wildfire, rangeland 

health and the support of our agricultural community, and our District focus on restoring wet 

meadows and supporting activities with broad landscape watershed benefits, the General 

http://www.sagegrouseinitiative.com/
http://www.gbsea.weebly.com/


Manager would like to discuss making an annual District contribution to the Cheatgrass 

Coordinator Position in 2023 and continued support for Cheatgrass control in future 

watershed and forest health grant proposals. 

RECOMMENDATION FOR ACTION: Discussion. 



DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, ALBUQUERQUE DISTRICT 

400 ROOD AVENUE, ROOM 224 
GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81501-2520 

 
January 27, 2022  

 
Regulatory Division 
 
SUBJECT: Prospectus Initial Review – Action No. SPA-2021-00329 
 
 
Stephen Decker 
Rocky Mountain Mitigation, LLC 
2443 S University Blvd, Suite 111 
Denver, CO 80210 
decker@rockymountainmitigation.com 
 
Dear Mr. Decker: 
 
 This letter serves as the initial evaluation of the proposed Gunnison Headwaters 
Mitigation Bank’s potential to provide compensatory mitigation for activities authorized by 
Department of the Army (DA) permits, as required in 33 CFR 332.8 (d)(5)(i). The evaluation 
process included a thorough review of the prospectus, dated September 15, 2021, and 
posting of a public notice (PN) on the Corps’ Albuquerque District Regulatory web page on 
October 18, 2021. In response to a request for an extension of the PN comment period, the 
Corps provided for an additional 30 days for the public to submit comments on the proposed 
project, closing December 17, 2021. The application has been assigned file number SPA-
2021-00329. Please reference this number in all communications regarding this project. 
  
 After reviewing the enclosed comments received during the PN period, we have 
determined that additional information is necessary to determine whether the proposed 
bank has potential to provide compensatory mitigation for activities authorized by DA 
permits. Please provide responses to the comments and concerns received in response to 
our PN. We have also identified the following items and issues for your response and/or 
additional information: 
  

1. Please ensure that future submittals meet the Updated Map and Drawing Standards 
for the South Pacific Division Regulatory Program, dated February 10, 2016. 
 
 2. Please explain and correct the discrepancy between project size provided in the 
prospectus (620 acres) and in Appendix C (526 acres) of the submittal. 
 
 3. Please disclose and address existing water rights, including a discussion of the 
assurance (adequacy and source) of sufficient hydrology to support the long-term 
sustainability of the mitigation bank. This could include the acquisition of water rights of 
current hydrology and/or demonstrating the site currently possess adequate hydrology to 
sustain the site as a wetland. The sponsor must also address where and how they will 
obtain adequate hydrology for the site. As part of determining hydrology, please also 
identify any activities upstream or downstream that may have potential future impacts on 
this hydrology (e.g., reservoirs, water rights/water well permits, FEMA-letters of map 



-2- 
 
 
 
 
revision, flowage easements, etc.) including the review of the Colorado Division of Water 
Resources (DWR) to identify any proposals that could influence hydrology or if existing 
water rights upstream and downstream of the site may be affected by the proposal. If 
proposing hydrologic manipulation, the sponsor should consult the DWR and provide a 
written statement from DWR as to whether a water right or related permit is or is not 
required for the proposed project.  
 
 4. The description of the site conditions, habitats, and species known or potentially 
present, or representative photos of the site that support descriptions are missing or overly 
vague. The baseline information should include a delineation of the waters of the United 
States. It should also include the site history, past land use, surrounding land uses and 
zoning, along with the anticipated future development in the area with justification for claims 
that are made (e.g., overgrazing). Please also include a tabular summary of current 
delineated waters of the United States (defined under 33 CFR part 328.3 (a)) found on the 
proposed site, the total quantity of current delineated waters of the United States located on 
the project site (e.g., acres of wetland or acres/linear feet of stream), and the waterbody 
type (herbaceous wetland, scrub/shrub wetland, perennial stream, intermittent stream, 
ephemeral stream, impoundment, other) or non-jurisdictional resource (e.g., uplands, 
riparian buffer, prior converted croplands, other).  
 
 5. The overall goals and objectives of the proposed mitigation bank are overly vague. 
Describe the factors considered during site selection, the compatibility with adjacent land 
uses, and the practicability of an ecologically self-sustaining aquatic resource restoration, 
establishment, enhancement and/or preservation project on this site. Please include a 
detailed description of the resource type and amount that will be provided and how it 
addresses the needs of the watershed and/or ecoregion. Please provide in table format the 
amount of each type of resource mitigation that is to be performed (e.g., acres of wetland 
type and acres/linear feet of stream restoration, creation, enhancement, and/or 
preservation) and discuss the habitat or vegetated community type proposed with each 
resource type (e.g., scrub-shrub wetland restoration, stream channel enhancements, etc.). 
 
 6. The prospectus is vague and requires additional documentation to support credit 
value, especially regarding fen conditions and rationale to support reestablishment as a 
possible mitigation type. The proposed crediting provided for the various mitigation types 
proposed may be unreasonable, and it does not appear that every area proposed for 
mitigation was once a wetland. Please include a functional assessment (e.g., FACWet) 
and/or condition assessment (e.g., CSQT). Projects involving the restoration of streams 
must assess baseline site conditions for all required parameters in the CSQT, including 
supporting field data. Include an appropriate mitigation credit accounting system and credit 
release schedule that will be employed during the operation of the proposed mitigation bank 
and identify ecologically based standards that will be used to determine when objectives are 
met (e.g., SPD Uniform Performance Standards). 
 



-3- 
 
 
 
 
 7. Credits for mitigation projects on public lands must be based solely on aquatic 
resource functions provided over and above those already provided by planned or in-place 
programs. Please identify if the Colorado State Land Board (CSLB) has identified priority 
areas for aquatic resource restoration or enhancement efforts, specific stewardship 
provisions stipulated in previous leases and any non-compliance. Please identify a baseline 
management effort to help explain what additionality might be provided by the proposed 
mitigation project. Also, please explain if the intention is to allow for public access to these 
public lands. 
 
 8. A detailed plan specifying the geographic boundaries of the project; construction 
methods, mitigation techniques, timing, and sequence; source(s) of water, including 
connections to existing waters and uplands; methods for establishing the desired plant 
community; plans to control invasive plant species; the proposed grading plan, including 
elevations and slopes of the substrate; soil management; and erosion control measures. 
For stream compensatory mitigation projects, the mitigation work plan may also include 
other relevant information, such as planform geometry, channel form (e.g., typical channel 
cross-sections), watershed size, design discharge, and riparian area plantings. This should 
include the construction methods, timing, sequence, and materials source to meet this 
desired objective. This may include descriptions of historic and existing plant communities, 
historic and existing hydrology, soil conditions, and other site characteristics appropriate to 
the type of resource proposed as mitigation. Note that mitigation banks should be designed 
to be self-sustaining over time to the extent possible, requiring minimal maintenance, and 
should include topographic surveys of the areas to be physically manipulated to ensure that 
spoil is removed or discharged to appropriate elevations sufficient to support the target 
habitats. 
 
 9. Adequate documentation and justification are not provided for expansion of the 
service area from the 10-digit watershed containing the mitigation bank. The level of 
documentation and justification the sponsor must provide increases in a stepwise 
progression with each additional 10-digit watershed, or portion thereof. Considerable 
justification is required for any additions that are outside either the 8-digit sub-basin or 
ecoregion containing the mitigation bank. Service areas must be appropriately sized for 
each credit type to ensure that the aquatic resources provided will effectively compensate 
for adverse environmental impacts across the service area respectively. Please describe 
how the service area was determined using a “watershed approach” and the basis for a 
mapped boundary representing the service area(s) of the mitigation bank. Approval of a 
service area occurs after detailed evaluation and therefore is site specific (determined on a 
case-by-case basis) and all impacts and compensatory mitigation must be accounted for by 
service area. 
 
 10. Please provide the description of property ownership, including any easements 
and/or encumbrances on the site along with an assessment of how it may affect bank 
operations or habitat values. This should include a copy of a title abstract, including a 60-



-4- 
 
 
 
 
year title search performed by a title company operating within the state. The submittal shall 
also include a legal survey of the proposed mitigation bank site. The bank sponsor shall 
submit an attorney’s Opinion of Title prepared in accordance with federal title standards, 
addressing each scheduled exception to the title and either clear said exception or explain 
its permissible use in the project. The title opinion may be structured in a manner similar to 
that used in standard American Land Title Association Title Commitment Form. This 
information is required to ensure that all properties being considered as potential mitigation 
banks have been fully researched and full disclosure has been provided relative to all liens 
and encumbrances. 
 
 11. Please provide assurance that the sponsor has a fully binding agreement to utilize 
the property. Describe the legal arrangements and documents that will be used to ensure 
the long-term protection of the site. In addition, identify the financial mechanism and the 
party responsible for long-term management of the proposed mitigation bank. Describe the 
proposed site protection-real estate instrument, including timing and sequence of filing of 
instrument, and appropriate independent third-party conservation easement holder. Please 
include a description and schedule of the general maintenance required to ensure 
continued viability of the aquatic resource once construction is completed, and credits are 
released. This should include the following: 
 

a. a description and schedule of abatement of non-target flora and fauna, 
 

b. a description of what long-term funding assurances are to be provided and how it 
is sufficient to ensure a high level of confidence that the project will remain successful, and 
 

c. a description on long-term ownership arrangement, including any real estate 
instrument holders and a description of any additionally proposed long-term land uses after 
the credits are sold. Include any proposed transfer of liability to another sponsor or long-
term steward. 

 
 12. Please provide information on historic properties and cultural resources that may be 
affected by your proposal, including any correspondence or records search with the 
Colorado Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation. 
 
 13. The project area overlaps with designated critical habitat for the Gunnison Sage 
grouse and contains habitat suitable to the federally listed Southwestern Willow Flycatcher 
and Yellow-billed cuckoo. Please provide information related to the suitability of the site 
currently, how much value could be provided by your proposal, and how additional value 
would be measured.  
 
 14. The proposal aims to attract and sustain wildlife populations on either side of U.S. 
Highway 50. There is potential that the proposal will attract wildlife hazardous to the public 
and threaten transportation along this major highway. Please include a discussion of 



-5-

associated risks and provide measures to limit potential wildlife hazards to vehicle traffic. 

You may revise the prospectus to address the concerns and submit it to our office. We 
will circulate a revised public notice within 30 days of receipt of the revised prospectus in 
accordance with 33 CFR Part 332.8(d)(4). No action will be taken until the requested 
information has been received. Please provide the requested information by February 26, 
2022. If no response is received or if you have not indicated what measures you have taken 
to provide us with this information, the review of this activity will be administratively 
deactivated. We encourage you to use this opportunity to resolve or rebut objections and to 
ensure all available information is in our administrative record.  

If you have any questions or if additional information or assistance is required 
concerning this matter, you may contact me in writing at the letterhead address, by 
electronic mail at w.travis.morse@usace.army.mil, or telephone at 970-243-1199, extension 
1014.  

Sincerely, 

Travis Morse 
Senior Project Manager 
NW Colorado Branch 

Enclosures 

cc: w/o encls
Gray Stevens, Sandy Creek Partners LLC, mgstevens@ameritech.net 
Mindy Gottsegen, Colorado State Land Board, mindy.gottsegen@state.co.us 
Nick Gallowich, Colorado Parks and Wildlife, nick.gallowich@state.co.us 
Clint Evans, Natural Resources Conservation Service, clint.evans@usda.gov 
Dayle Funka, U.S. Forest Service, dayle.funka@usda.gov
Ann Timberman, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, grandjunctiones@fws.gov 
Tanya Code, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, code.tanya@epa.gov



 

1 

 

 

February 4, 2022 

 

Damaris Christensen 

Oceans, Wetlands and Communities Division, Office of Water 

U.S. Environmental Protection  

Pennsylvania Avenue NW 

Washington, DC 20460 

 

Stacey Jensen 

Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army for Civil Works 

Department of the Army 

108 Army Pentagon 

Washington, DC 20310-0104 

 

Submitted via Regulations.Gov. 

 

RE: Waters of the United States Rulemaking, Docket ID No. EPA-HQ-OW-2021-0602   

 

Dear Damaris Christensen and Stacy Jensen: 

These comments are submitted by Northwest Colorado Council of Governments Water Quality/ Quantity 

Committee (QQ) in response to the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Army Corps of Engineers 

(“Agencies”) proposed revised definition of “waters of the United States (US).” We understand this initial rule 

returns to the pre-2015 definition, with some changes consistent with Supreme Court caselaw, and that a 

second rulemaking will propose more in-depth revisions to the definition of “waters of the US.” QQ 

generally supports both the proposed return to the pre-2015 regulatory definition and a second 

rulemaking to further clarify the definition in a manner that protects water quality in the headwaters of the 

Colorado River. 

QQ’s mission is to enable its member jurisdictions to protect and enhance the headwaters of Colorado 

while facilitating the responsible use of water resources. Members include 40 municipalities, counties, and 

water and sanitation districts in the headwaters of the Colorado, Gunnison, and Yampa river basins. We 

collectively refer to this region as the headwaters, or headwaters region. Northwest Colorado Council of 

Governments is the designated Regional Water Quality Management Agency under Section 208 of the 

Clean Water Act (CWA), appointed by Executive Order of the governor of Colorado to prepare and 

implement the region’s 208 Plan.   

QQ commented on earlier revisions to the definition of “waters of the US” from 2014-2020. After providing 

detailed comments, QQ generally supported the 2015 “Clean Water Rule” as providing additional clarity and 

adequate water quality protection for the headwaters. QQ expressed considerable concern over the 2020 

970-596-5039 

qqwater@nwccog.org 

 

P.O. Box 2308 

Silverthorne, CO 80498 

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/12/07/2021-25601/revised-definition-of-waters-of-the-united-states


 

2 

 

“Navigable Waters Protection Rule (NWPR),” which was not based on the best available science and reduced 

CWA jurisdiction in the headwaters region and throughout the arid West with potentially detrimental water 

quality consequences. 

QQ agrees with the agencies’ current approach to replace the NWPR, which could have lasting damaging 

effects on the headwaters region, and to initially replace it with the pre-2015 regulatory definition. 

However, it’s important that a second rulemaking occur to clarify the definition of “waters of the US” while 

ensuring adequate water quality protection for the headwaters region.  

EPA has reported that the lack of clarity as to what waters would be jurisdictional under the pre-2015 

regulations after the Rapanos decision resulted in waters not receiving water quality protection under the 

CWA, additional burdens on federal agencies, and delayed timelines for permit-seekers. These problems 

with the pre-2015 regulations will continue. QQ has long supported, and continues to support, clarity for 

this definition. The pre-2015 definition should be revised based on scientific evidence of hydrological 

connections between rivers, streams, and wetlands.  

Water quality is critically important to QQ. First, water plays an important role in the region’s economy. 

Tourism is the largest employment sector in the headwaters region, comprising 48% of all jobs. Tourism 

and recreational activities impacted by water quality include fishing, hunting, kayaking, rafting, lake 

recreation, hiking, camping, wildlife and bird watching, skiing, and other snow sports. Travelers to the 

headwaters region have an economic impact throughout the state because they purchase goods and 

services throughout the state. Agriculture and mineral resource development are other sectors of the 

headwaters economy that rely on clean water.1 Second, water from the headwaters region flows 

downstream to six other states, 10 tribes, and Mexico, providing water for use by more than 30 million 

people. Finally, local governments like those comprising QQ are charged with protecting water quality 

through their stormwater, wastewater, and water treatment systems.  

CWA protections help to ensure safe drinking water and robust economies. Simplifying and clarifying the 

jurisdictional scope of federal authority over water bodies is essential to this goal, as is continued 

protection of headwaters streams and wetlands which impact downstream rivers that flow through 

headwaters communities.  

QQ offers two important considerations as the agencies prepare to replace the pre-2015 “waters of the US” 

definition through a second rulemaking:  

1. Maintain exemptions for local government infrastructure, maintenance, and repair in 

CWA Section 404 permitting exclusions. Local governments maintain public safety water 

conveyances and treatment systems, municipal separate stormwater sewer systems (MS4), green 

infrastructure construction and maintenance projects, water reuse and infrastructure, and 

emergency management readiness. Likewise, local governments own and operate ditches for water 

supply, flood control, drainage conveyances, stormwater management, and irrigation ditches for 

 

1 Coley/Forrest Inc., “Water and its Relationship to the Economies of the Headwaters Counties,” Northwest 

Colorado Council of Governments (December 2011), http://nwccog.org/wp-

content/uploads/2015/03/QQStudy_Report_Jan-2012.pdf.  

http://nwccog.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/QQStudy_Report_Jan-2012.pdf
http://nwccog.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/QQStudy_Report_Jan-2012.pdf


 

3 

 

parks and other public facilities. Exemptions in Section 404(d) of the Clean Water Act are critically 

important for local government functions and should be maintained. 

2. All wetlands and waters with a hydrologic connection to a jurisdictional water, 

including ephemeral and intermittent streams, should be “waters of the US.” In the Colorado 

headwaters, almost all precipitation comes in the form of snow, which melts and creates headwater 

streams that may not have year-round flows. Protecting these headwaters streams and connected 

wetlands is just as important as protecting streams with year-round flows, as the impact to the 

downstream communities, environment, and economy is the same, and protections under the CWA 

should likewise be the same for these headwaters streams and wetlands. 

Water quality protection in the headwaters region will become increasingly important as the region sees 

increased development and water use. Protecting water quality also means protecting the region’s 

economic backbone of tourism, recreation, and agriculture. A rule which delivers clarity on which waters 

are considered jurisdictional as “waters of the US” will also provide water quality protection for the 

headwaters streams and wetlands that deliver water to downstream communities.  

Please do not hesitate to reach out with additional questions.  Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

Torie Jarvis 

Director and Staff Attorney 

Northwest Colorado Council of Governments Water Quality/ Quantity Committee 



 
 

1 
 

    
 
 
February 7, 2022 
 
Office of Water 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20460 
 
Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army for Civil Works 
Department of the Army 
108 Army Pentagon 
Washington, DC 20310–0104 
 
Re: Request for Comments on Proposed Rule Defining “Waters of the United States,” 
Docket ID Nos. EPA–HQ–OW–2021–0602 and FRL-6027.4-03-OW 
 
The State of Colorado (Colorado or State) submits the following comments on the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) and the Army Corps of Engineers’ (Corps) 
(collectively, federal agencies or agencies) rulemaking proposal in the December 7, 2021 
Federal Register notice, 86 Fed. Reg. 69372, regarding the definition of Waters of the United 
States (WOTUS). Colorado greatly appreciates the opportunity to provide feedback on this 
proposed rule.  

As a headwaters state that, like much of the western United States, is currently suffering the 
consequences of long-term drought and aridification on its waters, Colorado is keenly aware 
of the importance of the federal WOTUS definition in ensuring robust water quality 
protections for these invaluable resources. Colorado strongly supports the agencies’ 
commitment to a science-based approach to defining the reach of WOTUS that reflects well 
established legal requirements and will provide a consistent regulatory framework. We are 
supportive of the agencies’ proposal to return to the more protective pre-2015 definition and 
to incorporate the Rapanos v. United States “relatively permanent” and “significant nexus” 
standards into the regulatory definition. 

Colorado is concerned, however, that the proposed approach to the exclusions from WOTUS is 
a step backwards in terms of the agencies’ stated goals. Specifically, the converted cropland 
exclusion in the pre-2015 rule was a source of significant controversy and confusion. The 2020 
Navigable Waters Protection Rule (2020 NWPR), although flawed in many ways, resolved these 
issues by retaining protection of water resources while giving agricultural stakeholders the 
regulatory clarity that they had been seeking for decades. Returning to the pre-2015 
treatment of prior converted cropland, even in the interim, undermines the agencies’ stated 



 
 

2 

purposes of clarity and durability. Additionally, while Colorado supports a limited waste 
treatment system exclusion, the agencies’ broad definition of the term in the proposed rule 
will likely result in more rivers and streams being impounded for treatment purposes, to the 
detriment of WOTUS as a whole. Colorado also believes it is important for the final rule to 
expressly recognize the language of Clean Water Act § 101(g) regarding the primary authority 
of states over water management. Finally, Colorado does not support the agencies’ proposed 
approach, as explained in the preamble to the proposed rule, to determining the scope of 
jurisdictional ditches. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Throughout the various iterations of the WOTUS rule as proposed by the last three 
presidential administrations, Colorado has generally supported the pre-2015 regulatory 
definition of WOTUS (referred to by the federal agencies as the “1986 Rule”) as interpreted 
by the agencies’ 2008 Guidance.1 At the same time, we have noted that the rule could be 
improved by including more objective parameters to define the term “significant nexus,” and 
we specifically called for a clearer, more common-sense approach to the agricultural 
exemptions and explicit recognition that the scope of federal jurisdiction under the definition 
of WOTUS is subordinate to the authority of states to allocate water resources as stated in 
Section 101(g) of the Clean Water Act.   

Colorado places the highest priority on protecting the State’s land, air, and water, and relies 
on a combination of federal and state regulations to ensure that protection. The headwaters 
of five major multistate river systems are within Colorado’s boundaries: the Arkansas, the 
Colorado, the Platte, the Republican, and the Rio Grande. Many of these headwaters 
comprise a web of wetlands, ephemeral streams, and intermittent streams, and many are 
connected to traditionally navigable waters. These waters have critical importance to the 
quality of water used by Colorado and 19 downstream states for drinking, agriculture, 
recreation, and the health of both aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. Consequently, 
Colorado maintains significant interests in the efficient and wise management of water 
resources and in preserving the State's clear authority to administer and allocate water within 
its boundaries. 

For Colorado’s water to be most useful for drinking, agriculture, aquatic life, recreation, and 
other critical purposes, it must be high quality. Polluted, low quality water hurts Colorado 
and hurts the nation. Accordingly, protecting water quality in headwater states like Colorado 
has been a national priority since the passage of the Clean Water Act in 1972. Over the last 
fifty years, Colorado and the federal government have worked together to make enormous 
progress in protecting water quality throughout Colorado, including the State’s headwaters, 
and this work should continue to be a national priority.  

Nearly half of Colorado’s acreage is dedicated to farming, ranching, and other agricultural 
operations that contribute tens of billions of dollars a year to the State’s economy. Because 
the State’s agricultural commodities feed Coloradans and beyond, water is critically 
important to Colorado producers. To make the most responsible and productive decisions, 
farmers and ranchers must have certainty about whether their lands include jurisdictional 
waters. Unfortunately, over the last decade, we have operated in a period of considerable 

 
1 Clean Water Act Jurisdiction Following the U.S. Supreme Court’s Decision in Rapanos v. United States 

& Carabell v. United States (As revised, Dec. 2, 2008).  



 
 

3 

uncertainty as reflected by the significant revisions to the WOTUS rule in 2015, and again in 
2020. 

As with many western states, the large majority of Colorado’s stream miles are classified by 
the U.S. Geological Survey as either intermittent or ephemeral and were likely excluded from 
federal protections under the 2020 NWPR. This lack of protection and regulatory clarity has 
undermined protections for Colorado’s headwaters and placed new, extensive regulatory 
burdens on Colorado by requiring the State to act alone in this arena. The severe impacts of 
the 2020 NWPR led the State to pursue its own judicial challenge to the rule during which 
Colorado argued that the rule amounted to an abdication of the agencies’ responsibilities 
under the Clean Water Act and abandonment of fifty years of improvement of our Nation’s 
waters. 

We therefore greatly appreciate the agencies’ recommitment to the 1986 Rule and 2008 
Guidance, along with incorporation of the Supreme Court’s relatively permanent and 
significant nexus standards from Rapanos v. United States, to determine the scope of 
federally protected waters. We believe that using this interim approach while the agencies 
work with stakeholders to formulate a long-term durable WOTUS definition promises to finally 
put an end to the disruptive and unfortunate era of uncertainty and litigation we have 
witnessed over the last decade. 

II. COLORADO STRONGLY SUPPORTS INCLUSION OF THE RELATIVELY PERMANENT 

AND SIGNIFICANT NEXUS STANDARDS IN THE DEFINITION OF WOTUS 

Colorado supports the agencies’ proposal to incorporate both Justice Scalia’s “relatively 
permanent” standard and Justice Kennedy’s “significant nexus” standard from Rapanos v. 
United States into the definitions for the WOTUS categories of adjacent wetlands, tributaries, 
and other waters. This approach is scientifically supportable, legally sound, and familiar, as it 
is consistent with the approach taken by the agencies under the 2008 Guidance.  

Colorado applauds the agencies for returning to the bedrock principles of law that govern 
federal jurisdiction under the Clean Water Act. As Colorado argued in its challenge to the 
legally flawed 2020 NWPR, failing to include waters that satisfy the significant nexus standard 
in the definition of WOTUS is contrary to the language, structure and intent of the Act. In the 
proposed rule, the agencies properly recognize that “Since Rapanos, every court of appeals to 
have considered the question has determined that the government may exercise Clean Water 
Act jurisdiction over at least those waters that satisfy the significant nexus standard set forth 
in Justice Kennedy's concurrence.” 86 Fed. Reg. at 69380. Under the 2008 Guidance, the 
agencies concluded that Clean Water Act jurisdiction exists if a water meets either the 
relatively permanent standard or the significant nexus standard. Colorado has relied on the 
water quality protections afforded by this federal baseline, particularly in the realm of 
Section 404 dredge and fill permitting, where Colorado lacks a corresponding permitting 
program. We support the agencies’ effort to reinstate this long-standing regulatory 
framework.  

III. COMMENTS ON THE PROPOSED DEFINITION OF “SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT” AS USED 

IN THE SIGNIFICANT NEXUS STANDARD 

The proposed definition of “significantly affect” lists five physical factors that the federal 
agencies will consider when making jurisdictional determinations for certain non-navigable 
waters. 86 Fed. Reg. 69430. Colorado supports including all five of these physical factors in 



 
 

4 

the final rule because they are highly relevant to determining the strength of the connection 
between a given waterbody and downstream jurisdictional waters. However, Colorado also 
supports adding a sixth physical factor to the definition. In addition, Colorado is concerned 
that the proposed definition is incomplete because it fails to incorporate measures directly 
related to maintaining the chemical and biological integrity of waters of the United States. In 
order to fill this gap, Colorado recommends including the ecological functions of upstream 
waters that are discussed in the preamble to the definition of “significantly affect,” as well 
as adding chemical and biological factors to the definition. We explain these 
recommendations more fully below. 

A. Recommendation to Add a Sixth Physical Factor to Account for Soil 
Characteristics 

Colorado recommends adding a sixth physical factor to the proposed definition that 
incorporates soil type, composition and transmissivity. These soil characteristics greatly 
influence the first proposed factor (“distance from a jurisdictional water”) and third proposed 
factor (“hydrologic factors, including subsurface flow”), since the extent to which these 
factors measure the strength of the hydrologic connections between one waterbody, and 
another depends on the capacity for the soil to transmit water downstream.  

For example, waters will be significantly affected at greater distances and have more 
subsurface connections in soils with greater transmissivity, such as sandy soils or 
unconsolidated alluvium, compared to soils with lower transmissivity, such as highly 
compacted clays. The soil characteristics factor could be considered by looking at readily 
available soil maps and would not necessarily require field data. In conclusion, Colorado 
recommends incorporating a factor to account for the effects of soil characteristics (e.g., 
“soil type, composition and transmissivity”) to enhance the scientific basis for the definition 
of “significantly affect.”   

B. Recommendation to Add Ecological Functions 

All five proposed factors measure either the geography (e.g., “distance from a jurisdictional 
water”) or hydrology (e.g., “hydrological factors, including subsurface flow”) of a potentially 
jurisdictional water.  86 Fed. Reg. 69430. However, the 2008 Guidance recognized that 
considering physical and hydrologic factors alone was not sufficient to identify significant 
nexus waters. 2008 Guidance at 8. Beyond several physical factors that generally parallel the 
factors in the proposed rule, the 2008 Guidance lists four “ecological factors” that contribute 
to a complete significant nexus analysis: (1) “potential of tributaries to carry pollutants and 
floodwaters to traditional navigable waters”; (2) “provision of aquatic habitat that supports a 
traditional navigable water”; (3) “potential of wetlands to trap and filter pollutants to store 
flood waters”; and (4) “maintenance of water quality in traditional navigable waters.” Id. 
Without such factors, the proposed definition of “significantly affect” incorrectly assumes 
that physical metrics alone are sufficient to measure “the strength of the connections and 
associated effects that streams, wetlands, and open waters have on the chemical, physical, 
and biological integrity of traditional navigable waters....” 86 Fed. Reg. 69430. In fact, the 
federal agencies cannot fully evaluate the strength of chemical or biological connections or 
the magnitude of chemical or biological effects without considering such ecological 
information.  



 
 

5 

In the preamble to the proposed rule, the federal agencies describe several ecological 
“functions” of upstream waters that parallel the ecological “factors” listed in the 2008 
Guidance that may influence the biological and chemical integrity of downstream waters. See 
86 Fed. Reg. 69431. The preamble lists, among others, “sediment trapping and transport,” 
“pollutant trapping,” and “provision of habitat for aquatic species” as “functions of upstream 
waters.” Id. Waters that perform any one of these functions have a significant nexus if the 
function “has a more than speculative or insubstantial impact on the integrity of a traditional 
navigable water.” Id. Colorado supports adding these ecological factors/functions to the 
definition of “significantly affect” in the text of the rule. 

C. Recommendation to Incorporate Chemical and Biological Factors 

Even if the federal agencies include these functions of upstream waters in the definition of 
“significantly affect,” the proposed rule does not currently explain how the federal agencies 
would evaluate the presence and extent of these functions since, as explained above, 
physical factors are not sufficient to characterize the chemical and biological connections 
within stream systems.  

Including specific chemical and biological factors, as well as ecological functions, in the 
definition of “significantly affect” will fill this gap in the proposed rule. Such additions to the 
definition of “significantly affect” would also align with the EPA’s own findings in support of 
the proposed rule, including:   

1. “[T]ributaries provide organisms with both warm water and cold water refuges at 
different times of the year. . . . Tributaries also help buffer temperatures in 
downstream waters . . . [that are] many kilometers away.” 

2. “Streams and wetlands can prevent excess deposits of sediment downstream and 
reduce pollutant concentrations in downstream waters. Thus, the function of trapping 
of excess sediment, along with export of sediment, can have a significant effect on 
the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of downstream waters.” 

3. “Nutrient recycling, retention, and export can significantly affect downstream 
chemical integrity by impacting downstream water quality.” 

4. “The provision of life-cycle dependent aquatic habitat for species located in 
downstream waters significantly affects the biological integrity of those downstream 
waters.”2 

In light of our experience with the effects of intermittent and ephemeral tributaries on the 
chemical and biological integrity of downstream waters, Colorado offers the following 
recommendations for adding and implementing chemical and biological factors to the 
definition of “significantly affect.”  

Chemical Factor 

Colorado recommends adding a factor to the definition of “significantly affect” that explicitly 
accounts for the disproportionate effects that distant, low-flow streams and small wetlands 
can have on downstream jurisdictional waters depending on their chemical quality.  

 
2 Technical Support Document for the Proposed “Revised Definition of ‘Waters of the United States’” 
Rule (November 18, 2021) at 219-21.  

https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-12/tsd-proposedrule_508.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-12/tsd-proposedrule_508.pdf


 
 

6 

Intermittent and ephemeral streams can carry disproportionately large loads of pollutants 
compared to their contribution of flow to downstream waters.3 For example, ambient 
concentrations of selenium in Boggs Creek, an ephemeral tributary to Pueblo Reservoir in 
Colorado’s Arkansas River basin, can be up to 86 times the most stringent applicable 
standard, causing impairment of the aquatic life, water supply, and agriculture uses. In 
addition, uranium concentrations in Boggs Creek can be more than two times the water 
supply standard, resulting in impairment of the water supply use.4 Similar patterns exist 
throughout Colorado, such as in historic mining districts, where ephemeral and intermittent 
gulches draining former mine workings can deliver very high metal loads to downstream 
perennial tributaries during storm events and/or spring runoff, degrading water quality and 
changing macroinvertebrate distributions.5 

In determining whether such streams “significantly affect” downstream jurisdictional waters, 
federal agencies must consider the extent to which high pollutant concentrations can drive 
downstream chemical quality despite physical factors, such as distance and magnitude and 
frequency of flow. Therefore, the definition of “significantly affect” should include a factor 
that explicitly incorporates water quality in a manner similar to the 2008 Guidance (e.g. 
“potential of tributaries to carry pollutants and floodwaters to traditional navigable waters”). 
The federal agencies could implement this factor by consulting relevant state water quality 
agencies, examining a state’s 303(d) List of Impaired Waters and 305(b) Reports, and/or 
reviewing total maximum daily load reports.  

Biological Factor 

Finally, Colorado recommends incorporating a biological component into the definition of 
“significantly affect.” Consideration of biological connections is consistent with the second 
ecological factor listed in the 2008 Guidance, that is, whether the waterbody being evaluated 
provides “aquatic habitat that supports a traditional navigable water." 2008 Guidance at 8. 

For example, a Colorado Parks and Wildlife study found individual flannelmouth sucker, 
bluehead sucker, and roundtail chub spawning in the intermittent/ephemeral Roubideau 
Creek drainage that were originally tagged in the traditionally navigable portion of the 
Colorado River (Colorado River at Black Rocks).6 The spawning grounds in the Roubideau 
Creek drainage are important for maintaining populations of these native fish species in 
downstream jurisdictional waters. 

 
3 See Goodrich, D. C., Kepner, W. G., Levick, L. R., Wigington, P. J., Southwestern Intermittent and 

Ephemeral Stream Connectivity, Journal of the American Water Resources Association (January 22, 
2018), found at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1752-1688.12636 (describing how 
intermittent and ephemeral streams can export large amounts of fine sediment, nutrients, and organic 
matter during storm flows). 
4 Colo. Dep’t Pub. Health and Env’t, Total Maximum Daily Load Assessment: Boggs Creek - COARMA18a 

(May 18, 2016) at 10, 16. 
5 Roline, R., The Effects of Heavy Metals Pollution of the Upper Arkansas River on the Distribution of 

Aquatic Macroinvertebrates, Hydrobiologia (December 27, 1986), found at 
https://af.booksc.eu/book/5758941/ef780d. 
6 Thompson, K. G., Hooley-Underwood, Z. E., Present Distribution of Three Colorado River Basin 

Native Non-game Fishes (August 2019), Colo. Parks & Wildlife Technical Publication 52, found at 
https://cpw.state.co.us/Documents/Research/Aquatic/pdf/Publications/2019_Present_Distribution_of
_Three_Colorado_River_Basin_Native_Non-game_Fishes_and_Their_Use_of_Tributaries.pdf  

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1752-1688.12636
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1NgTgQAuOcXuccI1cULTYW8dZKI4bm7HB/view
https://af.booksc.eu/book/5758941/ef780d
https://cpw.state.co.us/Documents/Research/Aquatic/pdf/Publications/2019_Present_Distribution_of_Three_Colorado_River_Basin_Native_Non-game_Fishes_and_Their_Use_of_Tributaries.pdf
https://cpw.state.co.us/Documents/Research/Aquatic/pdf/Publications/2019_Present_Distribution_of_Three_Colorado_River_Basin_Native_Non-game_Fishes_and_Their_Use_of_Tributaries.pdf


 
 

7 

An additional example involves the Arkansas darter, which primarily occupies tributary 
streams within the grasslands of the Arkansas River Basin. These grasslands are often 
characterized by isolated groundwater-fed pools of habitat that are occasionally connected to 
each other and the mainstem Arkansas River by intermittent or ephemeral flows during 
above-average seasonal flows or flood events. When these pools are connected, numerous 
individual darters move within the system, colonizing new habitat, and potentially 
supplementing local genetic diversity.7  

These types of biological connections should be considered when determining whether waters 
“significantly affect” the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of traditionally navigable 
waters. The federal agencies should consult with state wildlife agencies and rely upon 
published reports and papers in evaluating biological connections. Consideration of biological 
connections could be incorporated into the rule by inserting an additional factor such as 
“whether the waterbody being evaluated provides aquatic habitat for a species migrating to a 
traditional navigable water."  

D. Conclusion Regarding the Definition of “Significantly Affect” 

Overall, Colorado supports defining “significantly affect” in regulation and supports including 
all five of the factors that the federal agencies have identified in the proposed rule. 
However, Colorado is concerned that the proposed definition ignores the important role that 
soil type and composition play in determining hydrologic connectivity. Colorado is also 
concerned that the proposed definition risks limiting inquiries about the jurisdictional status 
of a given waterbody to considering its effect on the physical integrity of downstream 
jurisdictional waters, while failing to address chemical and biological integrity. To address 
these concerns, Colorado recommends:   

1. Retaining all five proposed physical factors. 

2. Adding a sixth physical factor to account for the effects of soil characteristics on 
hydrologic connectivity, such as “soil type, composition, and transmissivity”; 

3. Including all the ecological functions of upstream waters as listed in the preamble in 
the final definition;  

4. Adding a chemical factor that reflects how differences in chemical quality can drive 
significant effects on downstream waters, such as “potential of tributaries to carry 
pollutants and floodwaters to traditional navigable waters”; and 

5. Adding a biological factor that reflects the significant effects of small tributaries on 
the population and habitat of aquatic life, such as “whether the waterbody being 
evaluated provides aquatic habitat for a species migrating to a traditional navigable 
water.” 

 
7 Fitzpatrick, S. W., Crockett, H., Funck, W. C., Water Availability Strongly Impacts Population 

Genetic Patterns of an Imperiled Great Plains Endemic Fish, Conservation Genetics (February 12, 
2014), found at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%252Fs10592-014-0577-0; Colo. Division of 
Wildlife, Arkansas Darter Recovery Plan (2001); Labbe, T. R., Fausch, K. D., Dynamics of Intermittent 
Stream Habitat Regulate Persistence of a Threatened Fish at Multiple Scales, Ecological Applications 
(October 27, 1999), found at https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[1774:DOISHR]2.0.CO;2.     

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%252Fs10592-014-0577-0
https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010%5B1774:DOISHR%5D2.0.CO;2


 
 

8 

Taking these steps would clarify and improve the definition of “significantly affect” by 
ensuring that it fully protects the physical, biological, and chemical integrity of the nation’s 
waters.  

IV. COLORADO’S CONCERNS WITH THE AGENCIES’ PROPOSED EXCLUSIONS FROM THE 

DEFINITION OF WOTUS 

A. Agricultural Exclusions 

Agriculture is one of the largest economic sectors in Colorado. This industry feeds the people 
of Colorado and beyond, while conserving environmental resources. Because water quantity 
and quality are critical to agricultural operations, producers need a regulatory definition that 
provides certainty and a clear point at which WOTUS ends, and land begins. The requirements 
of Clean Water Act permitting and the significance of penalties for violating the Act make it 
vital that the regulated community knows what is jurisdictional and what is not.  

To that end, Colorado supports the continued exclusion of prior converted cropland from the 
definition of WOTUS, and requests that the agencies incorporate the 2020 NWPR’s definition 
of that term to clarify that cropland would have to be abandoned and revert to wetland 
status for the exclusion to no longer apply. The 2020 NWPR clarified that abandonment means 
land that has not been used for, or in support of, agricultural purposes at least once in the 
last five years. Agricultural purposes are described in the 2020 NWPR preamble to include 
land use that makes the production of an agricultural product possible, including, but not 
limited to, grazing and haying. The 2020 NWPR also clarified that cropland left idle or fallow 
for conservation or agricultural purposes for any period remains in agricultural use, and, 
therefore, maintains the prior converted cropland exclusion. These clarifications are 
consistent both with the 1993 rule preamble provisions on abandonment and reversion and 
the change in use principle from the 2005 Corps and NRCS joint memorandum that defined 
agricultural use as open land planted to an agricultural crop, used for the production of food 
or fiber, used for haying or grazing, left idle per USDA programs, or diverted from crop 
production to an approved cultural practice that prevents erosion or other degradation. The 
2020 NWPR’s clarifications provided some certainty to landowners that they will not lose 
exclusion status when modifying production practices or implementing enhanced land 
stewardship practices. 

Colorado also supports the 2020 NWPR’s exclusions for areas of depression where irrigation 
water collects. These exclusions are critical for landowners to distinguish between state and 
federal wetlands and whether landowners require permits for activities on their land. 
Moreover, with a clear understanding of what is and is not jurisdictional under the Clean 
Water Act, producers can implement stewardship practices without the delay involved in the 
permitting process or the fear of legal action.  

The Clean Water Act at 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f) also provides exemptions from permitting for 
normal farming, silviculture, and ranching activities (e.g., plowing, seeding, cultivating, 
minor drainage, harvesting for the production of food, fiber, and forest products, or upland 
soil and water conservation practices); construction or maintenance of farm or stock ponds or 
irrigation ditches, or maintenance of drainage ditches; and construction or maintenance of 
farm roads or forest roads. However, permits may be required when discharge of dredged or 
fill material into the navigable waters incidental to the above activities brings the water into 
a use to which it was not previously subject, where the flow or circulation of navigable 
waters may be impaired, or the reach of such waters be reduced. By incorporating this 



 
 

9 

exemption scheme into the 1977 amendments to the Clean Water Act, Congress made a 
deliberate policy choice to exempt the ordinary activities of farmers and ranchers from 
certain permitting requirements of the Clean Water Act. Colorado believes these agricultural 
exemptions should be carried forward in any revised definition of WOTUS. 

Colorado requests that the WOTUS definition fully incorporate the non-prohibited discharges 
of dredged or fill material set forth at 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f) to provide more clarity and 
certainty for the agricultural sector. To that end, any new WOTUS rule should include 
additional revisions to the exemptions at 33 C.F.R. § 323.4 to provide more clarification by 
better defining “upland soil and water conservation practices” in Section 323.4(a)(1)(iii). 
Specifically, most normal farming, silviculture, and ranching activities, including upland soil 
and water conservation practices (e.g., erosion control practices), do not require federal 
permits under Clean Water Act Section 404. However, the phrase “upland soil and water 
conservation practices” is not specifically defined in regulation, and the application of the 
exemption may be unclear at times. Therefore, Colorado proposes the agencies consider 
including this definition for “upland soil and water conservation practices” at 33 C.F.R. § 
323.4(a)(1)(iii): 

Upland soil and water conservation practices means any discharge of 
dredged or fill material to waters of the United States incidental to soil 
and water conservation practices for the purpose of improving, 
maintaining, or restoring uplands including, but not limited to, rangeland 
management practices, erosion control practices, and vegetation 
management practices. 

Including such a definition would recognize that farmers and ranchers implement these types 
of practices daily, thereby reducing nonpoint source pollution and improving water quality. 

B. Waste Treatment Systems  

The “waste treatment system” exclusion as proposed by the agencies applies to “treatment 
ponds or lagoons, designed to meet the requirements of the Clean Water Act…” While 
Colorado supports a limited exclusion for waste treatment systems, we believe this exclusion 
as written is unnecessarily broad and vague.8 The agencies’ description of the term allows 
dischargers to impound WOTUS, thus sacrificing the designated uses of those waterbodies for 
treatment purposes. Moreover, the exclusion allows for the unmitigated discharge of 
untreated effluent into jurisdictional wetlands, which serve an important function to 
downstream WOTUS. This approach undermines protections established through other Clean 
Water Act regulations. See, e.g., 40 C.F.R. § 131.10(a) (“In no case shall a State adopt waste 
transport or waste assimilation as a designated use for any waters of the United States.”). 
Constructing an impoundment in WOTUS for treatment purposes or discharging industrial 
pollutants into a jurisdictional wetland should be a last resort. Colorado is concerned that the 
proposed open-ended regulatory language instead serves to endorse and even invite 
dischargers to use WOTUS as a component of their treatment systems. The exclusion as 

 
8 The Colorado Water Quality Control Act, through its own definition of “state waters,” contains a 

waste treatment exclusion that differs from the federal exclusion. See § 25-8-103(19), C.R.S. Colorado 

is concerned, however, about the potential implications of the federal exclusion (and federal case law 
interpreting the exclusion) on our state framework.  



 
 

10 

written does not provide any incentive to construct treatment systems off-channel in 
situations where that alternative is practical. 

We suggest, at a minimum, adding clarifying language to the phrase “designed to meet the 
requirements of the Clean Water Act” to reflect the explanation contained in the preamble. 
To that end, the text of the rule should specifically state that a discharger proposing to 
impound a WOTUS for waste treatment purposes would need to obtain an individual Section 
404 permit for new construction in a WOTUS in order to ensure that states have the ability to 
apply state water quality requirements to these projects under their Section 401 authority. 
The text of the rule should also require that the discharger obtain a Section 402 permit for 
discharges from the waste treatment system into a WOTUS.  

Alternatively, we suggest expressly limiting the exclusion to narrow circumstances, such as 
the valley fill scenario discussed in Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition v. Aracoma Coal Co., 
556 F.3d 177 (4th Cir. 2009), and making it clear that the waste treatment system exclusion 
otherwise applies only to lagoons or ponds that are constructed off-channel, i.e., not within 
WOTUS. Recognizing that this would be a change to previous federal policy, the agencies 
could consider grandfathering waste treatment systems that were excluded under the 
previous regulation but that no longer satisfy the new off-channel criterion.  

Revising the waste treatment system exclusion in one of these ways would also serve the 
agencies’ intent to make the WOTUS rule clearer and more understandable to the regulated 
community. The vague nature of waste treatment system exclusion as proposed is likely to 
cause more confusion and inconsistency in practice, leading to resource-intensive litigation to 
resolve those issues on a case-by-case basis.  

C. Placement of the Exclusions in the Rule 

Colorado suggests removing the excluded categories of waters from the list that defines 
WOTUS and instead placing them under a separate heading. Heading (a) of the proposed rule 
reads as follows: “Waters of the United States means...” 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a); 40 C.F.R. 
§ 120.2(a). The first seven categories under heading (a) describe waters that are all 
considered WOTUS. The exclusions contained in paragraphs (8) (waste treatment systems) and 
(9) (prior converted cropland), however, do not follow structurally. It would be clearer to 
insert a new heading (b) to cover the exclusions. Heading (b) would read: “Waters of the 
United States does not include:” and then insert numbers (1) and (2) to list the waste 
treatment system and prior converted cropland exclusions, respectively. New letters would 
need to be assigned to the remaining paragraphs of the rule, accordingly.    

D. Section 101(g) and Interstate Compacts 

Finally, while not an exclusion per se, Colorado also requests that the federal agencies 
continue to give full force and effect to the congressional purposes of Clean Water Act 
Section 101(g); 33 U.S.C. § 1251(g). Congress and the U.S. Supreme Court have placed 
important limitations on the jurisdictional reach of the Act and have consistently recognized 
the primary and exclusive authority of each state to “allocate quantities of water within its 
jurisdiction,” which decisions “shall not be superseded, abrogated, or otherwise impaired by 
th[e CWA].” 33. U.S.C. § 1251(g); PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. V. Wash. Dept. of Ecology, 511 
U.S. 700, 720–21 (1994). These clear and recognizable limits to the extent of Clean Water Act 
jurisdiction should be recognized in the rule. Colorado requests the federal agencies include a 
clear statement recognizing that states retain authority and primary responsibility over land 



 
 

11 

and water resources to carry out the overall objectives of the Clean Water Act. Likewise, 
Colorado emphasizes the importance of Section 101(g), particularly to the western states 
where water resources are often limited, and water rights are carefully administered. 

In addition to incorporating the language of Section 101(g), the agencies should further clarify 
that neither the Clean Water Act nor the rule itself can alter or impair any state’s rights, 
duties, or obligations under interstate compacts or decrees of the Supreme Court of the 
United States equitably apportioning the flows of an interstate stream. This clarification 
should also incorporate language that includes waters that flow across, or form part of, 
boundaries of federally recognized tribes. 

Lastly, the agencies asked for input on whether use of stream order is an appropriate method 
for determining the extent of a riverine “interstate water.” Colorado seeks additional 
information as to how this methodology comports with the limits on the extent of Clean 
Water Act jurisdiction under Section 101(g) and the pre-2015 regulatory regime. The 
application of a stream order methodology to determine interstate waters is of particular 
concern to Colorado because some methodologies for determining stream order could extend 
the designation of interstate waters a great distance from state boundaries. The agencies 
should avoid using any methodology that would extend the reach of an interstate water for 
purposes of the WOTUS rule far beyond interstate borders. 

V. COLORADO’S CONCERNS WITH THE PROPOSED APPROACH TO DETERMINING THE 

SCOPE OF JURISDICTIONAL DITCHES 

Colorado would like to emphasize that any change to the federal agencies’ handling of ditches 
in the context of a new WOTUS definition must be done in a way that also considers the scope 
of the longstanding agricultural exemption for dredge and fill activities impacting irrigation 
ditches and how the federal agencies interpret the Act’s recapture provision.9 Colorado 
opposes creating a situation where the jurisdictional scope of WOTUS and the agencies’ 
regulatory interpretations work together to effectively discourage irrigation ditch piping 
projects that would otherwise improve Colorado’s ditch infrastructure and conserve scarce 
water resources. To address our water management challenges, including persistent drought 
and climate change, investing in water infrastructure is essential and that includes creating, 
enhancing, or updating ditch piping projects.10 

Colorado supports the agencies’ proposal as stated in the preamble, consistent with the 2008 
Guidance, that “ditches created wholly in uplands and draining only uplands with ephemeral 

 
9 For example, in July 2020, the Corps and EPA issued a Joint Memorandum, replacing previous 

Regulatory Guidance Letter 07-02, that made a critical change to the agencies’ interpretation of the 
agricultural exemption under Clean Water Act Section 404(f)(1)(C) and the accompanying recapture 
provision at Section 404(f)(2). See https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2020-
07/documents/final_ditch_exemption_memo_july_2020_with_epa.pdf. Specifically, the 2020 Joint 
Memorandum states that any project that relocates or converts a jurisdictional irrigation ditch into a 
pipe is a change in use and a reduction in reach of WOTUS. Thus, all irrigation ditch piping and ditch 
relocation projects on jurisdictional ditches are now recaptured and subject to regulation under 
Section 404. A change of this nature can be a critical barrier to important irrigation ditch piping 
projects. 
10 Colorado Attorney General, Prepared remarks: The Imperative of Investing in Water Infrastructure, 
Colorado Water Congress Summer Conference (Aug. 25, 2021), https://coag.gov/blog-post/prepared-
remarks-the-imperative-of-investing-in-water-infrastructure-colorado-water-congress-summer-
conference-aug-25-2021/. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AUsGddXbxoY4c-EPUiSwRsOvfZoGQnTw/view?usp=sharing
https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/documents/final_ditch_exemption_memo_july_2020_with_epa.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/documents/final_ditch_exemption_memo_july_2020_with_epa.pdf
https://coag.gov/blog-post/prepared-remarks-the-imperative-of-investing-in-water-infrastructure-colorado-water-congress-summer-conference-aug-25-2021/
https://coag.gov/blog-post/prepared-remarks-the-imperative-of-investing-in-water-infrastructure-colorado-water-congress-summer-conference-aug-25-2021/
https://coag.gov/blog-post/prepared-remarks-the-imperative-of-investing-in-water-infrastructure-colorado-water-congress-summer-conference-aug-25-2021/


 
 

12 

flow would generally not be considered WOTUS.” See 86 Fed. Reg. 69380. In the interest of 
clarity, Colorado encourages the agencies to consider including ditches that fit this 
description as a category of excluded waters in the text of the regulation.  As for other 
ditches that do not fit this description, Colorado supports application of the relatively 
permanent or significant nexus test to determine whether those ditches are considered 
WOTUS.  

Finally, the federal agencies seek input regarding whether the interpretation of “relevant 
reach” for ditches should consider any particular factors for situations where ditches are 
treated as tributaries or contain wetlands. In response, Colorado does not believe that the 
“relevant reach” of a ditch should pertain to an artificial drainage. If, on the other hand, a 
ditch is constructed within a natural drainage, the entire ditch should be considered 
jurisdictional (assuming that it meets the significant nexus or relatively permanent standard), 
thus eliminating the need for a reach determination. Importantly, however, whichever 
approach is used to interpret relevant reach, Colorado reiterates the need for clear 
permitting exemptions for construction and maintenance activities for irrigation ditches, as 
noted above, as well as for maintenance of drainage ditches.  

VI.    ECONOMIC ANALYSIS OF STATE PROGRAMS  

In addition to the proposed rule itself, the agencies have requested comment on the accuracy 
of the assumptions regarding state regulatory programs included in the economic analysis 
accompanying the proposed rule (2021 Economic Analysis).11 The agencies’ analysis assumes 
that Colorado does not regulate waters more broadly than the proposed rule requires for 
either the 404 program or surface waters. 2021 Economic Analysis at Table II-1, p. 50. Based 
on this assumption, the agencies calculate that the full benefits and costs of the proposed 
rule, as compared to the baseline of the 2020 NWPR, will be realized in Colorado. Id. at 50. 
Colorado agrees that the return to the status quo of the pre-2015 regulatory framework, 
including the 2008 Guidance, will have important benefits for the State. Colorado also wishes 
to highlight important state law regulatory issues the agencies should consider in their 
economic analysis.  

Colorado state law precludes the discharge of pollutants to state waters without a permit and 
defines “state waters” more broadly than any federal definition of WOTUS to date. See 
Colorado Water Quality Control Act, §§ 25-8-103(19) & 25-8-501, C.R.S. At the same time, 
state law does not specifically authorize any state-level permitting program for dredge and 
fill activities. As a result, Colorado, like most other states, relies on the Corps’ Section 404 
permitting program to regulate dredge and fill activity and protect critical streams and 
wetlands. The State’s continued ability to depend on a consistent level of federal protection 
for these resources is another important benefit of the proposed rule.  

 
11 EPA and the Corps, Economic Analysis for the Proposed “Revised Definition of ‘Waters of the United 

States’” Rule (Nov. 17, 2021), available at https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-
11/revised-definition-of-wotus_nprm_economic-analysis.pdf.  

https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-11/revised-definition-of-wotus_nprm_economic-analysis.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-11/revised-definition-of-wotus_nprm_economic-analysis.pdf


 
 

13 

VII. CONCLUSION 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide these comments on the agencies’ interim WOTUS 
proposal. We encourage the federal agencies to take advantage of Colorado’s knowledge and 
expertise on the important water issues facing the State as you work through the rulemaking 
process. We look forward to continued conversations and developing a durable, legally sound, 
implementable, and scientifically justified WOTUS definition in the next phase of rulemaking. 

 

STATE OF COLORADO 

Governor Jared Polis 

 
Date: February 7, 2022 

 

 
Attorney General Philip J. Weiser 

 

Date: February 7, 2022 

 



1 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board of Directors 

FROM: Cheryl Cwelich, Watershed Program Coordinator 

DATE: February 16, 2022 

SUBJECT: Wet Meadows Program Update 

During the month of February, the following are action items that have commenced or been 

completed in the Wet Meadows Restoration and Resiliency Building Program (WMRRBP): 

Completed Action Items 

• Finalized 2022 Wet Meadows Field Season Schedule

• Scheduled Volunteer Events

o WRV/HCCA on September 2nd thru 5th at Miller Ranch SWA/Flat Top-Henkel

o HCCA event on September 24th at Monson Gulch

• Reconciled funding/grant agreements with BLM Gunnison, BLM Silt, NFWF and USFS

• Developed field season budgets to close out the above funding agreements.

o The BLM will develop a new funding agreement for 2023

o The USFS will develop a new funding agreement for 2023 thru 2028

• Submitted concept paper for GOCO Stewardship Impact Grant totaling $158,100

• Submitted article developed by partners on the Wet Meadows Program to the Western

Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA)

• Coordinated ARCPro GIS installation for program and project mapping

Action Items 

• 2022 Field Work:

o The coordinator is amending contracts with BIO-Logic and Wildlands Restoration

Volunteers (WRV) to adjust for appropriate funds allocated in grant/funding

agreements.

o Contractors to perform specialized earthwork, log work, and fencing have been

contacted for the 2022 field season, including Stonefly Earthworks, RangeWorks

LLC, Grizzly Fence and Rocky Mountain Aggregate. The coordinator is working

with staff to complete contracting and finalize schedule.

o The RMYCC crew has been promised for two weeks of time to conduct Wet

Meadows work at Bohr Flats. Cheryl is working to finalize a contract with them.

o The General Manager and the Coordinator have been in talks with the Colorado

Natural Heritage Program (CNHP) to negotiate their indirect cost rate. CNHP

conducts vegetation monitoring for the Wet Meadows Program that is used to



2 

demonstrate restoration treatment success. CNHP partners with Colorado State 

University (CSU) and commands a NICRA of 52%. The UGRWCD feels that this 

rate is unacceptable and is aware that the State of Colorado and federal agencies 

have negotiated indirect rates ranging from 10% to 15%. The UGRWCD feels 

that because we are managing state and federal grant agreements, that we should 

also be provided with a reduced indirect cost rate so that more of our grant funds 

can be put into actual on-the-ground structures.  In order to get around the 52% 

rate, wet meadow federal partners are contracting directly with CNHP although 

they would prefer that the UGRWCD be the fiscal agent. 

 

• Outreach: 

o In collaboration with Nate Seward at Colorado Parks & Wildlife (CPW), the Wet 

Meadows Program will be hosting a field trip day with CSU Pueblo during the 

2022 field season.  

o The Gunnison sage-grouse (GUSG) Summit at Western will take place on April 

4th and 5th and will be attended by the coordinator and partners at CPW and FWS. 

o As part of Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) Water Festival on 

May 20th for 4th grade students in Gunnison, the Coordinator will assist with 

running the every-popular water trailer that demonstrates stream flow and erosion.   

• Funding Opportunities: 

o The coordinator will be researching funding opportunities for the Wet Meadows 

Program, including Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) WaterSMART, Colorado 

Healthy Rivers Fund, Colorado River District’s Community Funding Partnership 

and the Greater Outdoor Colorado (GOCO) RESTORE grant.  

• Monitoring 

o Several partners are involved with providing data to the Conservation Efforts 

Database (CED), a partnership between United States Fish and Wildlife Service 

(USFWS) and United States Geological Survey (USGS) to spatially report 

conservation efforts for sagebrush ecosystems, Cutthroat trout recovery and 

Gunnison sage-grouse recovery. The coordinator is exploring the potential for 

streamlining data submission to reduce duplication and improve program partner 

involvement.   

o The data collection team for the Wet Meadows Program will be meeting on 

March 3rd to discuss standardization of data collection processes, particularly 

related to structure location, performance, and maintenance monitoring. Teresa 

Chapman of The Nature Conservancy (TNC) will be introducing a new data 

dictionary for the team to follow and launching field app to aid in data collection.  

• Continuity & Vision: 

o The primary Wet Meadows Program partners will be meeting on March 4th to 

review the 2014 Scaling Up Vision & Objectives document and update as 

necessary. Additional topics will include defining geographical location, 

relationship with Gunnison sage-grouse (GUSG) sub-populations and outreach 

opportunities and roles.  

 

 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM: Beverly Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

DATE: February 16, 2022  

SUBJECT: Grant Program 

The grant packet for 2022 was posted on the website along with several fillable forms such as the 
cover sheet, technical proposal template, budget spreadsheets, and scope of work templates.   

Two virtual grant program informational meetings were held January 13 and January 18 at 10:00 
a.m. via Zoom. It was advertised in the newspapers in Gunnison, Crested Butte and Lake City, as
well as posted several times on the District social media accounts and on the website.  Five
potential grant applicants tuned in for the meeting.

A power point was presented outlining:  (1) Background of Grant Program; (2) Timeline for the 
2022 Grant Program; (3) Eligible Types of Projects; (4) the Eligibility, Evaluation and Ranking 
Criteria for the 2022 Grant Program; (5) Elements of the Funding Agreement; (6) Timeline for 
Disbursement of Funds: (7) Necessary Components of a Complete Application; (8) and the 2022 
Grant Program Templates. 

As of February 15, the District has received 15 applications for grant funding for a total of 
$346,516.  These applications will be reviewed by staff and the UGRWCD Grant Committee and 
recommendations will be presented to the board at the March 28 Regular Board Meeting. 



MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Beverly Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

DATE:  February 16, 2022  

SUBJECT:  Mountain Roots Irrigation Grant 

 

Mountain Roots applied for grant funding in 2020 to update the irrigation system in the Mountain 
Roots Community Farm.  This project would accommodate the new high tunnel, perennial garden, 
and expanded in-ground growing space. UGRWCD funds are being used to support the purchase 
of new irrigation materials and supplies.  These materials will allow for water use monitoring, 
water delivery, and will increase the water use efficiency and growing capacity at the Farm. 
 
After some revisions, the funding agreement was completed for $14,917 with a completion date 
of December 31, 2021.  Due to staff turnover, and increased community-wide food relief at the 
beginning of the COVID and resulting delays, Mountain Roots would like to apply for a one-year 
extension with project completion anticipated following the growing season of 2022.  Extending 
the deadline to December 31, 2022 would allow for all components of the project to be completed 
including the final reporting requirements. 
 
Action Item:  Staff recommends that the Board approve a one-year extension for the 
Mountain Roots Irrigation Grant Project to December 31, 2022.   

 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board of Directors 

FROM: Sue Uerling, Adm. Asst./Comm. Support Specialist 

DATE: February 10, 2022 

SUBJECT: Education and Outreach Update 

The following Education and Outreach action items have commenced or been completed since the 

January 24, 2022 Board Meeting: 

• Radio Advertising:

o KBUT is now running the District’s “winter-based” message with the “Snow Report” at

8:30 AM daily.

o Sonja has recorded two new 30 second spots to run on KEJJ and its sister stations which

will rotate four times daily beginning next week.

• Newsprint Advertising:

o The weekly streamflow/reservoir elevations/snowpack ads are running in the Gunnison

Country Times and Crested Butte News.

o The weekly streamflow/Lake San Cristobal elevation/Slumgullion snowpack ads are

running in the SilverWorld newspaper.

• Collaboration with other Water Groups in the District:

o The District has sent payment with the contract to serve as the Awards Ceremony

sponsor for the Gunnison Rotary Club Fishing Tournament at Blue Mesa Reservoir

May 7 and 8, 2022.

ACTION NEEDED: Determine if any Board or staff member would like to participate

on a two-member team in the fishing tournament representing the District?

• Water Message Promotional Items:

o New water bottles with the District’s logo have been ordered from Kirsten Dickey at

OffCenter Designs.  Rack card copy has also been written and will be sent to Dove

Graphics for layout and printing.

• 250 Copies of the children’s book Drop: An Adventure through the Water Cycle by Emily Kate

Moon arrived on January 21, 2022.  The District has contacted Elementary School Principal

Michael Seefried to check on a date that might work for distribution and confirm that the

District can deliver them in person.

• The UGRWCD will partner with Aleshia Rummel of the Gunnison Conservation

District/NRCS for the 4th Grade Water Festival on May 20th at Gunnison Elementary School.

Watershed Program Coordinator Cheryl Cwelich will help Aleshia in the Water Trailer.

• Western Intern John Murphy has been posting water-related articles, Water22 Partner posts and

updates to the District’s social media platforms nearly daily. The District has seen a significant

uptick in likes and visits as a result.  He has also been learning how to make updates to the

website and is working on consolidating and organizing the “Photo” file.



AGENDA ITEM 11
Miscellaneous Reports



AGENDA ITEM 11
Gunnison River Festival Update



AGENDA ITEM 11
Scientific Endeavors Update



AGENDA ITEM 11
CO Water Congress Review



AGENDA ITEM 11
Standard Monthly Reports

*Solar Panels, *Gunnison River
Spreadsheet, *News Articles

* 



����������	
�����������������
������������������������ �!�"#$ �%#�&'(�)���*"+�#�,��-./�0����
�1�.23�������
�����
����������4����
�0���
��	
��5�6�0���78""9 %":9�%�;"# !�"#$ �%#�&'("&�����������<�����=����� >7�?�@- ==7>�@-�����A������<�����B����� >7C��@- �?C�@-�����>������<����������� >7AC�@- �C7��@-������������<�����A����� ��- ��-�5�6�0���������3
��D ?B>�@-�E����
0��F
����3
��D �>=�@-�G�����
�/���D �7���F-�H�	���I��E�
�0���
�D ��7A�F-�G
0��J:#K���LMMN"��	
�������I
���D�>��7��6�G
0������
		���������O0�������
	D�P�Q#""N



����������	��
����	������������������������������������ �����!����"#�#������#����������������$�%����&�����'�$������$�%���������!����$��$�%���#�(���)*+,�-./�0/



2 <---- Month to Summarize (change this number to look at a different month)
PRELIMINARY - SUBJECT TO REVISION

Daily Summary for Month --> Feb

1st Fill  2nd Fill  Other Aspinall BP Accnt AU Accnt 1st Fill Contract Tot 1st fill

Day of 
Month

Silver 
Jack 

Reservoir 
& Juniors 
In Priority 
(1=Yes, 
0=No)

TP 
Releases 
from TP 
1st Fill 
(1=Yes, 
0=No)

Excess 
Released 
TP Inflow 
and AU 

Nat Inflow 
(cfs)

Gun 
Tunnel 
(GT) 

Shortage 
after AU 

Nat Inflow 
and TP 

Inflow (cfs)

3-Day 
Average 

Excess TP 
Inflow and 

AU Nat 
Inflow (cfs)

3-Day Ave. 
GT 

Shortage 
after AU 

Nat Inflow 
and TP 
Inflow
(cfs)

TP Res. 
Content 

(af)

TP - 
USGS 
outflow 

(cfs)

TP 
Computed 

Inflow 
(cfs)

1st Fill - 
Storage - 
in TP (af)

2nd Fill - 
Storage -

in TP 
(af)

Other 
Account 
Storage 
in TP - 

Storage -
(af)

AU 
Storage 
in TP - 

(af)

SJ Res 
Content 

(af)

SJ Inflow 
to 

Reservoir 
Storage 

(cfs)

BP - 
Storage - 
in SJ (af)

AU Water -
Storage - 
in SJ (af)

BM Res 
Content 

(af)

MP Res 
Content 

(af)

CR Res 
Content 

(af)

AU 
Change In 
Storage 

(af)

Computed 
rel from CR 

(cfs)

AU inflow 
below TP 
& with AU 
Aug Rel 

(cfs) #REF!

UGRWCD 
Contract 

water      
(af)

Gun. 
River 
below 
East 

Portal     
(cfs)

Total 
Gunnison 

Tunnel 
Divs (cfs)

GT Divs - 
AU inflow 
minus TP 
released 

inflow 
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
TP 

Released 
Inflow 
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
SJ 

Storage 
Inflow by 
AU Exch 

(cfs)

GT Divs -  
UGRWCD 
Contract 

Water Rel  
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
Rel from 

2nd Fill for 
Rec/Fish  

(cfs)

GT Divs - 
1st Fill 

Credit in 
BM     
(cfs) #REF!

Remain. 
1st Fill 

Credits in 
TP and 

AU      (af)
(1) (2) (3) (5) (6) (7) (8) (11) (14) (15) (19) (25) (30) (34) (36) (39) (43) (47) (49) (77) (100) (124) (125) (127) #REF! #REF! (128) (131) (132) (133) (134) (135) (136) (137) #REF! (140)

1 1 1 369 0 311 0 58,298 73 59  237,819 104,780 16,192 134 316 311  316 0 0 0 0
2 1 1 439 0 356 0 58,284 73 66  237,961 104,870 16,215 256 317 373  317 0 0 0 0
3 1 1 388 0 399 0 58,270 73 65  238,009 104,946 16,250 158 316 323  316 0 0 0 0
4 1 1 358 0 395 0 58,228 72 51  238,009 105,051 16,270 126 316 308  316 0 0 0 0
5 1 1 335 0 360 0 58,213 73 66  237,961 105,157 16,261 49 317 269  317 0 0 0 0
6 1 1 355 0 349 0 58,171 73 51  238,199 105,104 16,195 119 317 304  317 0 0 0 0
7 1 1 395 0 362 0 58,157 73 66  238,342 105,119 16,203 166 318 329  318 0 0 0 0
8 1 1 248 0 333 0 58,157 73 73  238,389 104,961 16,186 -128 373 235  313 60 60 0 0
9 1 1 313 0 319 0 58,100 74 45  238,437 104,938 16,175 13 379 312  335 44 44 0 0
10 1 1 353 0 305 0 58,072 74 59  238,532 104,900 16,203 86 324 294  324 0 0 0 0
11 1 1 346 0 338 0 58,058 74 67  238,532 105,013 16,149 58 324 279  324 0 0 0 0
12 1 1 431 0 377 0 58,029 74 60  238,675 105,127 16,134 241 324 372  324 0 0 0 0
13 1 1 451 0 410 0 58,001 74 60  239,103 104,968 16,146 281 324 392  324 0 0 0 0
14 1 1 288 0 390 0 57,987 74 67  239,245 104,817 16,097 -57 324 221  324 0 0 0 0
15 1 1 0 0 0 0 0
16 1 1 0 0
17 1 1 0 0
18 1 1 0 0
19 1 1 0 0
20 1 1 0 0
21 1 1 0 0
22 1 1 0 0
23 1 1 0 0
24 1 1 0 0
25 1 1 0 0
26 1 1 0 0
27 1 1 0 0
28 1 1 0 0
29
30
31

Total 28 28 5,071 0 5,003 0 1,026 855 0 1,503 4,591 4,322 4,485 106 106 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tot (af) 10,059 0 9,924 0 2,035 1,695 0 2,981 9,105 8,573 8,896 209 209 0 0 0 0 0 0
Min 1 1 248 0 305 0 57,987 0 45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 237,819 104,780 16,097 -128 0 221 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Max 1 1 451 0 410 0 58,298 74 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 239,245 105,157 16,270 281 379 392 0 0 335 60 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Annual Summary (all values in ac-ft)  Note: Reservoir content is the end of the month content 
(days) (days) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af)

Nov 30 30 34,379 0 32,433 0 58,737 4,428 4,591 54,159 4,578 0 0 1,713 300 1,713 0 220,759 110,430 15,977 11,721 21,006 30,392 20,402 604 604 0 0 0 0  105,924
Dec 31 31 26,537 0 26,118 0 58,695 4,564 4,521 49,595 9,100 0 0 1,790 166 1,790 0 232,145 105,687 16,102 6,769 21,040 23,245 19,811 1,229 1,229 0 0 0 0  105,924
Jan 31 31 23,786 0 24,582 0 58,327 4,414 4,046 237,819 104,652 16,186 4,722 20,500 20,807 19,432 1,067 1,067 0
Feb 28 28 2,035 9,105 8,896 209
Mar 31 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Apr 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
May 31 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Jun 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Jul 31 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Aug 31 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sep 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Oct 31 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 365 365 84,702 0 83,133 0 15,442 13,158 465 23,211 71,652 74,444 68,542 3,110 2,901 0 0 0 0 0
Min 28 28 0 0 0 0 58,327 0 0 49,595 9,100 0 0 1,790 0 1,790 0 232,145 104,652 16,102 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105,924
Max 31 31 26,537 0 26,118 0 58,695 4,564 4,521 49,595 9,100 0 0 1,790 166 1,790 0 237,819 105,687 16,186 6,769 21,040 23,245 0 19,811 1,229 1,229 0 0 0 0 0

105,924

Type of Water Diverted into Tunnel

TO

Taylor Park Reservoir Aspinall Unit GUNNISON TUNNEL ALLOCATION
River Call Average Flow Reservoir

Silver Jack Reservoir
Reservoir Reservoir Contents Total Aspinall Unit Inflow Streamflow and Divs





















































































































AGENDA ITEM 12
Director Updates



AGENDA ITEM 13
Citizen Comments



AGENDA ITEM 144
Future Meetings



FUTURE MEETINGS/EVENTS

 Gunnison Water Smart Group-March 1, 2022 at 1:00 PM
 Grant Committee meets for grants review-March 2, 2022 at 3:00 PM
 Legislative Committee-March 4, 2022 at 8:00 AM
 Forest and Watershed Health Technical Group-March 9, 2022 at 10:00 AM
 Legislative Committee-March 11, 2022 at 8:00 AM
 Watershed Management Planning Committee-March 14, 2022 at 1:30 PM
 Legislative Committee-March 18, 2022 at 8:00 AM
 World Water Day-March 22, 2022
 Legislative Committee-March 25, 2022 at 8:00 AM
 UGRWCD Board of Directors Meeting-March 28, 2022 at 5:30 PM
 UGRWCD Board of Directors Meeting-April 25, 2022 at 5:30 PM
 UGRWCD Sponsors Gunnison Rotary Club Fishing Tourney-May 7 & May 8, '22
 Gunnison 4th Grade Water Festival at Elementary School- May 20, 2022



 

 

 

UPPER GUNNISON RIVER WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

UPPER GUNNISON RIVER WATER ACTIVITY ENTERPRISE 
 

 
All meetings will be held at the District’s Offices, 210 West Spencer, Suite B, Gunnison and by 

Zoom video/teleconferencing. Meeting dates, times, and locations are subject to change. Please 

check our website for updated information: www.ugrwcd.org. Persons with special needs due to 

a disability are requested to call the District at (970)641-6065 at least 24 hours prior to the 

meeting. 
 

 

2022 board meeting dates_final 

2022 BOARD MEETING DATES 

➢ Monday, January 24, 2022* 

 
➢ Monday, February 28, 2022  

 
➢ Monday, March 28, 2022 

 
➢ Monday, April 25, 2022 

 

➢ Tuesday, May 24, 2022 – Held in Lake City** 

 

➢ Monday, June 27, 2022 - Annual Meeting 

 
➢ Monday, July 25, 2022* 

 
➢ Monday, August 29, 2022 

 
➢ Monday, September 26, 2022 

 
➢ Monday, October 24, 2022 

 
➢ Monday, November 28, 2022 

 
➢ Monday, December 12, 2022 – Special Budget Meeting 

*These meeting dates will include the Water Activity Enterprise Board Meeting 

**This meeting will include the Lake San Cristobal Water Activity Enterprise Board Meeting 

http://www.ugrwcd.org/


AGENDA ITEM 15
Summary of Action Items



AGENDA ITEM 16
Adjournment


	Agenda - Regular Meeting - February 28, 2022
	Agenda Item 3 - Changes to Financial Reports
	Agenda Item 4- Consent Agenda Items
	Approval of January 24, 2022 Minutes
	Monthly Budget Summary
	Consideration of Operating Expenses
	Consideration of Non-Operating Expenses

	Agenda Item 5 - Legal and Legislative Matters
	Agenda Item 6 - Gothic Raw Water Presentation by Janna Hansen, CB
	Agenda Item 7 - Basin Water Supply Report
	Agenda Item 8 - BREAK
	Agenda Item 9 - Treasurer's Report
	Agenda Item 10 - Board Discussion-Coordinated Emergency Response Planning and Demand Management
	(a) Memorandum on Emergency Response Planning
	(b) Memorandum on Demand Management

	Agenda Item 11 - General Manager and Staff Reports
	General Manager's Report
	Staff Reports
	Wet Meadows Program Update
	Grant Program Update
	Education and Outreach Program

	Miscellaneous Reports
	Gunnison River Festival Update
	Scientific Endeavors Update
	Colorado Water Congress Review
	Standard Monthly Reports


	Agenda Item 12 - Director Updates
	Agenda Item 13 - Citizen Comments
	Agenda Item 14 - Future Meetings
	Agenda Item 15 - Summary of Meeting Action Items
	Agenda Item 16 - Adjournment



